
 

 
1 
 

 
 

Notice of a meeting of 
Licensing Sub Committee-Alcohol and Gambling 

 
Thursday, 2 July 2020 

10.30 am 
Virtual WEBEX video conference via YouTube - 

https://www.youtube.com/user/cheltenhamborough 
 

Membership 

Councillors: Mike Collins, Simon Wheeler and Roger Whyborn 

Officers: Vikki Fennell (Legal Officer) and Jason Kirkwood (Senior Licensing 
Officer) 

 

Agenda  
    

1.   ELECTION OF CHAIR  
    

2.   APOLOGIES  
    

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
    

4.   THE ST JAMES' CLUB, GIBSON HOUSE. CHELTENHAM 
Report of the Senior Licensing Officer 

(Pages 
3 - 434) 

    

5.   ANY OTHER ITEMS THE CHAIRMAN DETERMINES TO 
BE URGENT AND WHICH REQUIRES A DECISION 

 

    
 

Contact Officer:  Claire Morris, Democratic Services, 01242 264130 
Email: democratic.services@cheltenham.gov.uk 

mailto:democratic.services@cheltenham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

St James’ Club   

 Page 1 of 10 Last updated 23 June 2020 

 

  

Cheltenham Borough Council 
 

Licensing Sub Committee – 2nd July 2020 
 

Licensing Act 2003: Determination of Application for a Premises Licence 
 

For The St James’ Club, Gibson House. Cheltenham. GL50 3QG  
 

Case Officer: Jason Kirkwood - Senior Licensing Officer 
 

Introduction 

1. The Licensing Act 2003 (the 2003 Act) introduced a unified system of regulation through 
four types of authorisation to permit licensable activity:- 

 The premises licence,  

 The club premises certificates for qualifying clubs,  

 Temporary Event Notices and  

 The personal licence.  
 

2. Licensable activity is defined under the 2003 Act as the following:- 

 The sale by retail or the supply of alcohol, 

 Regulated entertainment (recorded and live music, performance of a play, exhibition of a 
film, etc) 

 Late night refreshment (food or drink supplied above ambient temperature between the 
hours of 23:00 and 05:00). 
 

3. Since the implementation of the 2003 Act, Central Government has issued Statutory 
Guidance (the Guidance) to provide more comprehensive and detailed advice on this 
legislation. It was last updated on 6 April 2018. The licensing authority must have regard to 
the Guidance when determining this application.  
 

4. The Guidance is binding on Cheltenham Borough Council acting in its capacity as a 
licensing authority under the 2003 Act. However, the licensing authority may depart from it, 
if it has good reason to do so. Departure from this Guidance could give rise to an appeal or 
judicial review, and so clear reasons must be referenced in such instances. 
 

5. The 2003 Act requires that a council must formulate and publish a statement of its 
licensing policy. This will explain the manner in which the licensing authority will carry out 
its responsibilities under the 2003 Act. The licensing authority may depart from the 
Statement of Licensing Policy (the Policy), but must give good reason(s) where it chooses 
to do so.  
 

6. The Guidance and Policy are both referenced: through elements of this report, through a 
summary of the most relevant extracts from each attached as appendices and by way of 
weblinks to both documents.   

Background 

Page 3
Agenda Item 4



 
 
 
 

St James’ Club   

 Page 2 of 10 Last updated 23 June 2020 

 

7. The Borough Council, as the licensing authority, is responsible for authorising all venues/ 
events in the borough where licensable activities take place. 
 

8. The legislation provides a clear focus on the promotion of four statutory objectives which 
must be considered when licensing functions are undertaken.  
 

9. The system is built upon four licensing objectives:-  

 The prevention of crime and disorder;   

 Public safety;  

 The prevention of public nuisance; and,  

 The protection of children from harm.  
 

10. The licensing authority must promote these objectives in carrying out its functions.   
 

11. Each objective is of equal importance. There are no other statutory licensing aims or 
objectives, although other aims and objectives may be pursued through local policy. 
 

12. Where an application is made to the licensing authority, the default position is that the 
application will be granted, as applied for, unless relevant representations (objections) are 
received. If relevant representations are received, a hearing must be held to consider the 
application, in light of the objections and/ or any support for it.  
 

13. An objection against an application must refer to the promotion of one or more of the 
licensing objectives to be considered as a relevant representation, and must be made by a 
Responsible Authority or an ‘Other Person’. 
 

14. Responsible Authorities: - The 2003 Act identifies 10 responsible authorities that act as 
statutory consultees for applications for premises licences. All of these consultees are 
served with a copy of the application and have the opportunity to object or make 
comment:-  

 The relevant Licensing Authority,  

 The Chief Officer of Police  

 The local Fire and Rescue Authority  

 The relevant health and safety enforcing authority  

 The local authority with responsibility for environmental health  

 The local Planning Authority  

 The relevant body with responsibility for the protection of children  

 The relevant Public Health Authority  

 Trading Standards  

 Home Office Immigration Enforcement (on behalf of the Secretary of State).  
 

15. Other Persons - The 2003 Act allows any individual, body or business to make 
representations to the licensing authority regarding an application for a premises licence, 
where their comments relate to the promotion of the licensing objectives. 
 

16. Mediation - In some cases, mediation by the licensing authority has the potential to find a 
satisfactory conclusion for all parties, and a hearing may be dispensed with, if all parties 
agree. Due to the volume of representations, it has not seemed realistic for mediation to 
produce such an outcome in this case.  

Page 4



 
 
 
 

St James’ Club   

 Page 3 of 10 Last updated 23 June 2020 

 

Policy Considerations 

17. Core Hours for Licensable Activities - As set down in the Policy the council will avoid 
arbitrary restrictions on licensing hours that undermine the principles of flexibility and 
consideration of each application is on its own merit.  

18. However, the council believes that licensable activities carried on within the core hours set 
out below will generally not have a harmful impact on the licensing objectives, address the 
concerns raised by local residents and businesses and are usually less likely to attract 
representations.  
 

19. Furthermore, earlier closing will result in less alcohol consumption and drunkenness and 
would also be consistent with the ability to get crowds dispersed from the town centre.  

Table 1: Core Hours for Licensable Activities  

Type of premises Commencement hour no 
earlier than 

Terminal hour no later than 

Off licence 09:00 23:00 

Restaurant 10:00 01:00 

Theatres, cinemas and other 
performance venues 

10:00 00:00 

Pubs/ bars/ nightclubs  Town centre                    
10:00 

03:00 

Local neighbourhood areas 
10:00 

00:00 

Takeaways N/a N/a 

 

20. As set down in Appendix D of the Policy, the location for the St James’ Club is defined as a 
‘town centre’ location. 
 

21. Where relevant representations have been made, the sub - committee will take the 
following matters into consideration when making a decision, as per the Policy. These are 
not a definitive list and other matters may be considered:- 

a) Operating schedules - demonstration of compliance with management standards to 
support each of the licensing objectives.  

b) Proximity to residential accommodation - the likelihood of the operation to have an 
adverse impact on the peace and quiet of local residents.  

c) Potential noise and nuisance from people leaving and entering the premises.  

d) Ability to demonstrate that systems in place to ensure timely dispersal of customers 
away from residential areas.  

Page 5



 
 
 
 

St James’ Club   

 Page 4 of 10 Last updated 23 June 2020 

 

e) Use of external areas for carrying out the licensable activities and potential noise impact 
on local residents.  

f) Proposed hours of the licensing activities and general opening times for the public – The 
use of winding down periods to enable more efficient dispersal.  

g) Type of use – alcohol led premises such as pubs, bars and nightclubs, off licenses and 
hot food take away premises are more likely to be associated with crime and disorder and 
public nuisance than other premises such as seated restaurants, theatres, cinemas and 
other cultural activities.  

h) Availability of public transport to assist in the timely dispersal of customers from the 
vicinity and to ensure safe travel home.  

i) The potential for contamination of the street environment through increased litter and 
other pollution of the streets by customers 

The Determination of an Application 

22. Where relevant representations have been received and mediation is unsuccessful or not 
viable, then the licensing authority’s discretion will be engaged. It will convene a hearing by 
a sub – committee of the Licensing Committee to consider the application and 
representations.  
 

23. Responsible authorities and/or other persons in relation to an application may attend the 
hearing, with adequate notice, to amplify and clarify their relevant comments. They may 
not add to their original representation once the objection period has closed. 
 

24. The applicant may also attend the hearing to assist the authority in considering the 
application. 
 

25. The hearing should focus on the steps considered appropriate to promote the particular 
licensing objective or objectives that have given rise the representations and not stray into 
undisputed areas. 
 

26. The sub – committee should determine the application with a view to promoting the 
licensing objectives in the overall interests of the local community. The licensing authority 
must give appropriate weight to:- 

 The Statutory Guidance - the current version is available to view here (the most 
relevant extracts to this case are attached at Appendix 5 of this report). 

 The Cheltenham Borough Council Statement of Licensing Policy – the current version 
is available to view here (the most relevant extracts are attached at Appendix 6 of this 
report). 

 The representations (including supporting information) presented by all the parties. 
(Attached at Appendix 3 a – j).  

 The steps that are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives. 

The Application 

Case number: 20/00454/PRMA 

Applicant: St James Club Limited 

Page 6

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/442/licensing_policy_statement


 
 
 
 

St James’ Club   

 Page 5 of 10 Last updated 23 June 2020 

 

Licence type – premises licence 

Address: Basement, Gibson House, St. James Square, Cheltenham. GL50 3QG 
 

27. Other information: the premises will be known as ‘the St James’ Club’. Many objectors 
have referred to the name as ‘Chemistry’, as a venue operating in the past from this 
location was known under that name. 

 
28. A sub - committee is required to discharge its duty and determine this application with a 

view to promoting the licensing objectives. This is because relevant representations have 
been made against the application.  

29. The application is attached at Appendix 1 and details the hours sought for licensable 
activity to take place. It includes the steps the applicant would take to promote the 
licensing objectives at Section M if the application is granted. 

 
30. The application was received on 19th February 2020 and was deemed as duly made at that 

point. The close of the objection period was 19th March 2020. The application was sent 
electronically to all responsible authorities and public notice of the application was given by 
way of site notice and a notice in a local newspaper. An objector reported the site notice 
missing at one point, however an officer checked the site notice and it was still in place.  

 
31. The application was accompanied by a plan of the premises, which is attached at 

Appendix 2. The location of the proposed venue is shown by way of area maps 
highlighting Gibson House at Appendix 4 a - d. 

 
Relevant Representations  
 

32. During the objection period there were no relevant representations received from any 
responsible authority. 

 
33. However, there were a relatively significant number of relevant representations from other 

persons. The breakdown of the relevant representations is as follows:- 
 

Total letters/ email/ forms received – 194 (1 objection was withdrawn leaving this final 
total) 
168 from individuals  
21 from couples/ families/ persons living together representing 2 persons objecting 
3 from local businesses/ organisations 
1 from a Ward Councillor 
1 from a 5 person household 
Total named objectors – 219 

 
67 of the above objectors describe themselves as parishioners of the church 
10 of the above objectors describe a direct link with the school/ nursery. 

 
34. It should be noted that where objections only referred to the licensing objectives by name, 

further information was requested as far as possible. 
 

35. All relevant representations are attached at Appendix 3 a – j. They have been batched 
alphabetically as far as possible, each batch is manually page numbered and they are 

Page 7



 
 
 
 

St James’ Club   

 Page 6 of 10 Last updated 23 June 2020 

 

redacted to remove names, signatures and personal contact information (telephone 
numbers and email addresses). Appendix 3 j contains 2 representations out of that order, 
due to an administrative error.  

 
Hearing  
 

36. It is clear that Government has a clear priority for the justice system, council meetings 
generally and regulatory functions to continue to be maintained, as far as practicable, 
notwithstanding the challenges faced by society through the measures introduced to tackle 
COVID – 19.   

 
37. In usual circumstances, the hearing would have taken place prior to 18th April 2020. 

However, the sub – committee determined that the period within which the hearing should 
usually be held, as laid down in Statutory Instrument 2005 no. 44, should be extended for 
up to 3 months. This was because of the acute difficulties of holding it at the time due to 
the national emergency in relation to COVID – 19, in particular with no physical meeting 
possible. The high number of objectors, the apparent age dynamic of many of them and 
the likely difficulties in providing access to and managing a meeting through online means 
alone led to this decision.  

 
38. However, the council will make its best endeavours to ensure that the hearing is held on 

2nd July 2020, as it would be inappropriate to delay the matter further. It is hoped that 
certain government measures may have been relaxed slightly by that time, and with proper 
coordination and management, the hearing can be held by way of a combination of a 
physical meeting (with social distancing measures) and online facilities to view and take 
part in the meeting. 

 
39. The council is currently preparing to deliver certain council meetings ‘virtually’, whereby the 

public/ councillors can view and/ or take part in meetings through online conference 
facilities. It is hoped to use those same facilities and a physical meeting through limited 
means to ensure access to the hearing, the right for all parties to be heard and provide 
transparency about the decision making process. Further information will be made 
available about how the hearing will be managed nearer to the time, as it will be dependent 
on a number of factors and ultimately the health and safety of all persons involved in this 
process. 

 
40. In any event, the council appreciates that not all parties will want to attend the meeting in 

person, but it understands that they will want their views to be considered. Further, the 
council understands that many objectors may face difficulties in accessing a meeting 
online, and so may be hindered in engaging fully with the process. 

 
41. Therefore, it seems prudent to ensure that objectors can voice their concerns through their 

local ward councillors and/ or a representative of their choosing. This approach has been 
taken by many councils where there are a number of objections to an application under 
‘normal business’ circumstances. 

 
42. It is worth bearing in mind that normal practice at hearings would involve parties not 

repeating the points that have already been made to the sub – committee on the day. 
Furthermore, the sub – committee will consider all written representations in any event, 
and the hearing itself is the opportunity for parties to only ‘amplify and clarify’ the points 
they have already made in writing.   

Page 8



 
 
 
 

St James’ Club   

 Page 7 of 10 Last updated 23 June 2020 

 

 
43. On that basis, the case officer will make best endeavours to facilitate effective means for 

objectors to be heard in a coordinated and effective fashion. The ward councillors, a 
representative from the church and a representative from the local community will be 
contacted to discuss this approach, but this will not override the right for any party to act 
independently if they wish. All parties will be updated in due course as the council aims to 
secure good access to this meeting for all.  

 

Case Officer Comments 
 

44. It became apparent very early in the consultation period that the application gave rise to 
concern amongst many local residents and other members of the public with connections 
to the area, in particular through a local church. In many instances concerns were raised 
with reference to the operation of the nightclubs Gas and Chemistry that previously 
occupied Gibson House.  

 
45. An application for a premises licence at Gibson House was refused in 2010, but a 

premises licence had previously been in force for a number of years. The premises has not 
been licensed as a venue since at least 2010. 

 
46. Members are asked to consider the following points, which seem pertinent to the case:- 

 
1. Objectors raised significant concerns regarding the impact on the local community of a 

licensed venue at this location in the past.  
2. In light of those allegations, the sub - committee may consider to what extent concerns 

raised about previous use of the premises may have been due to poor management of 
the venue and/ or generally lower standards in the management of the night time 
economy at that time. If so, how far could those concerns be addressed by better 
management practice in future? 

3. Alternatively, they may consider the extent to which it is reasonable to believe that 
alleged past problems may reoccur through use of the venue due to a potential conflict 
of the intended activities and the nature of the area concerned. The specific details of 
this application and management controls proposed for the venue are crucial 
considerations in this respect.  

4. Many objectors have grave concerns about the proximity of a licensed venue to a 
church, but it must be acknowledged by all parties that moral issues cannot be 
considered in their own right. However, concerns raised in that regard that do relate to 
the promotion of the licensing objectives and this application certainly can be 
considered.    

5. It is understood the management team for the proposed venue will be different than 
has previously operated the venue. 

6. The sub-committee may wish to satisfy itself whether the prospective licence holder 
has policies and procedures in place to address the concerns raised by the objectors. 

7. It should be noted that an existing licensed premises is generally open until a later 
terminal hour on a daily basis in close proximity to this proposed venue – namely ‘The 
Bottle of Sauce’. That premises is permitted to sell alcohol from 10:00 – 00:00 hours 
on Sunday – Thursday and 10:00 – 01:00 hours on Friday and Saturday, and seems to 
coexist well with the local community and does not apparently give rise to a 
disproportionate number of complaints.   

8. The operation of licensed venues in the night time economy seems generally more 
developed and improved since the previous venue closed. For example, the setting up 

Page 9



 
 
 
 

St James’ Club   

 Page 8 of 10 Last updated 23 June 2020 

 

of Night Safe (launched in 2007) and the work done by stakeholders to achieve and 
maintain the Purple Flag status for the town (first awarded 2016) suggests a more 
effective partnership based approach to tackling alcohol related problems now exists. 

 
47. Furthermore, all parties must recognize the following important considerations:- 

 

 The decision making exercise is considered as an ‘administrative’ process in legal terms. 
However, there is potential for legal challenge against a decision, and where a party appeals, 
the decision making process is scrutinized. The licensing authority is bound by legislation and 
case law in how it carries out this function, and so must act accordingly. 

 Members can only consider evidence/ reasoning presented, which is clearly related to the 
promotion of the licensing objectives and this specific proposal. 

 The fact that no responsible authority objected to the proposal must be considered by the sub 
– committee. Where those bodies have concerns about an application, they can object and 
recommend conditions. They are considered as technical experts in their fields and have not 
objected, which confirms they are satisfied with the applicant’s proposals. 

 
48. Finally, the case R (Hope and Glory Public House Limited) v City of Westminster 

Magistrates' Court [2011] EWCA Civ 31 is considered an important licensing case that was 
consider by the Court of Appeal in 2011. An extract from the conclusion provides some 
assistance for the sub – committee:-  

41. As Mr Matthias rightly submitted, the licensing function of a licensing authority is an 
administrative function. By contrast, the function of the district judge is a judicial 
function. The licensing authority has a duty, in accordance with the rule of law, to 
behave fairly in the decision-making procedure, but the decision itself is not a judicial or 
quasi-judicial act. It is the exercise of a power delegated by the people as a whole to 
decide what the public interest requires. (See the judgment of Lord Hoffmann in 
Alconbury at para 74.)  

42. Licensing decisions often involve weighing a variety of competing considerations: the 
demand for licensed establishments, the economic benefit to the proprietor and to the 
locality by drawing in visitors and stimulating the demand, the effect on law and order, 
the impact on the lives of those who live and work in the vicinity, and so on. Sometimes 
a licensing decision may involve narrower questions, such as whether noise, noxious 
smells or litter coming from premises amount to a public nuisance. Although such 
questions are in a sense questions of fact, they are not questions of the "heads or tails" 
variety. They involve an evaluation of what is to be regarded as reasonably acceptable 
in the particular location. In any case, deciding what (if any) conditions should be 
attached to a licence as necessary and proportionate to the promotion of the statutory 
licensing objectives is essentially a matter of judgment rather than a matter of pure fact.  

43. The statutory duty of the licensing authority to give reasons for its decision serves a 
number of purposes. It informs the public, who can make their views known to their 
elected representatives if they do not like the licensing sub-committee's approach. It 
enables a party aggrieved by the decision to know why it has lost and to consider the 
prospects of a successful appeal. If an appeal is brought, it enables the magistrates' 
court to know the reasons which led to the decision. The fuller and clearer the reasons, 
the more force they are likely to carry.  

Page 10



 
 
 
 

St James’ Club   

 Page 9 of 10 Last updated 23 June 2020 

 

49. The last paragraph highlights in particular the statutory duty of the sub – committee to give 
clear written reasons for its decision. This allows all parties to an application to understand 
the eventual outcome in a meaningful way.   

DECISION MAKING 
 

50. The sub – committee will consider thoroughly and diligently the representations and their 
relevance to the determination of this application. Members must limit their considerations 
of the objections to where they are specifically relevant to the application before them.  

 
51. The licensing authority must determine the application and decide whether to:- 

 Grant the application with mandatory conditions and those offered in the application 
only, or 
 

 Grant the application with mandatory conditions, those conditions offered in the 
application (amended or otherwise) and attach specific conditions to promote the 
licensing objectives - where it considers it appropriate. (This may include restricting 
the hours applied for in the application), or 

 

 Refuse the application, as it considers it appropriate to promote the licensing 
objectives. 
 

52. Each application must be considered on its own merits and in accordance with the 2003 
Act, the Guidance and the licensing authority’s Statement of Licensing Policy.  

53. If conditions are attached to the grant of a licence they must be tailored to the individual 
type, location and characteristics of the premises/ events concerned. This is essential to 
avoid the imposition of disproportionate and overly burdensome conditions on premises 
where there is no need for such conditions. 
 

54. If any party to a hearing is aggrieved by the decision of the licensing authority (this means 
the applicant or any person/ organisation/ business that made a relevant representation), 
they may appeal to the Magistrates’ Court. They must do so within 21 days of being 
notified of the decision in writing. 

Licence conditions – general principles  

55. Conditions on a premises licence are important in setting the parameters within which 
premises can lawfully operate. The use of wording such as ‘must’, ‘shall’ and to a lesser 
extent ‘will’ is encouraged.  
 

56. Licence conditions:-  

 Must be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives; 

 Must be precise and enforceable; 

 Must be unambiguous and clear in what they intend to achieve; 

 Should not duplicate other statutory requirements or other duties or responsibilities placed on 
the employer by other legislation; 

 Must be tailored to the individual type, location and characteristics of the premises and events 
concerned; 

 Should not be standardised and may be unlawful when it cannot be demonstrated that they 
are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in an individual case; 

Page 11



 
 
 
 

St James’ Club   

 Page 10 of 10 Last updated 23 June 2020 

 

 Should not replicate offences set out in the 2003 Act or other legislation; 

 Should be proportionate, justifiable and be capable of being met, (for example, whilst beer 
glasses may be available in toughened glass, wine glasses may not); 

 Cannot seek to manage the behaviour of customers once they are beyond the direct 
management of the licence holder and their staff, but may impact on the behaviour of 
customers in the immediate vicinity of the premises or as they enter or leave; and 

 Should be written in a prescriptive format.  

 

Background Papers Various appendices 

Report Author  Contact officer: Mr Jason Kirkwood 

E-mail: licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Tel no: 01242 262626 

Legal contact officer: Vikki Fennell  

Email: Vikki.Fennell@tewkesbury.gov.uk  

Tel no. 01684 272015 

 

Page 12



 Application for a premises licence to be granted under the Licensing Act 2003 

 

PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING INSTRUCTIONS FIRST 

 

Before completing this form please read the guidance notes at the end of the form.  If you are 

completing this form by hand please write legibly in block capitals.  In all cases ensure that your 

answers are inside the boxes and written in black ink.  Use additional sheets if necessary. 

 

You may wish to keep a copy of the completed form for your records. 

 

 

I/We St James Club Limited 

         (Insert name(s) of applicant)  

apply for a premises licence under section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003 for the premises 

described in Part 1 below (the premises) and I/we are making this application to you as the 

relevant licensing authority in accordance with section 12 of the Licensing Act 2003 

 

Part 1 – Premises details 

  

Postal address of premises or, if none, ordnance survey map reference or description 

Basement 

Gibson House 

St. James Square 

 

Post town Cheltenham Postcode GL50 3QG 

 

Telephone number at premises (if any)         

Non-domestic rateable value of premises £Not individually rated 

 

Part 2 - Applicant details 

 

Please state whether you are applying for a premises licence as        Please tick as appropriate 

 

a) an individual or individuals *  please complete section (A) 

b) a person other than an individual *   

 i as a limited company/limited liability 

partnership 

 please complete section (B) 

 ii as a partnership (other than limited 

liability) 

 please complete section (B) 

 iii as an unincorporated association or  please complete section (B) 

 iv other (for example a statutory corporation)  please complete section (B) 

c) a recognised club  please complete section (B) 

d) a charity  please complete section (B) 

Page 13



e) the proprietor of an educational establishment  please complete section (B) 

f) a health service body  please complete section (B) 

g) 

 

 

 

ga) 

 

a person who is registered under Part 2 of the 

Care Standards Act 2000 (c14) in respect of an 

independent hospital in Wales 

 

a person who is registered under Chapter 2 of 

Part 1 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 

(within the meaning of that Part) in an 

independent hospital in England 

 

 

 

 

 

 

please complete section (B) 

 

 

 

please complete section (B) 

h) the chief officer of police of a police force in 

England and Wales 

 please complete section (B) 

 

* If you are applying as a person described in (a) or (b) please confirm (by ticking yes to one 

box below):     

 

I am carrying on or proposing to carry on a business which involves the use of the 

premises for licensable activities; or 
 

I am making the application pursuant to a   

 statutory function or  

 a function discharged by virtue of Her Majesty’s prerogative  

 

(A) INDIVIDUAL APPLICANTS (fill in as applicable) 

 

Mr  
 

Mrs  
 

Miss  
 

Ms  
 

Other Title (for 

example, Rev) 
      

 

Surname 

      

First names 

      

Date of birth                                    I am 18 years old or over   Please tick yes 

Nationality        

Current residential 

address if different from 

premises address 

      

Post town       Postcode       

Daytime contact telephone number       

E-mail address 

(optional) 
      

Where applicable (if demonstrating a right to work via the Home Office online right to work 

checking service), the 9-digit ‘share code’ provided to the applicant by that service (please see 

note 15 for information) 

 

           

 

 

Page 14



SECOND INDIVIDUAL APPLICANT (if applicable) 

 

Mr  
 

Mrs  
 

Miss  
 

Ms  
 

Other Title (for 

example, Rev) 
      

 

Surname 

      

First names 
      

Date of birth                                 I am 18 years old or over  Please tick yes 

Nationality        

Where applicable (if demonstrating a right to work via the Home Office online right to work 

checking service), the 9-digit ‘share code’ provided to the applicant by that service: (please see 

note 15 for information) 

 

           

 

Current residential 

address if different from 

premises address 

      

Post town       Postcode       

Daytime contact telephone number       

E-mail address 

(optional) 
      

 

 

(B) OTHER APPLICANTS 
 

Please provide name and registered address of applicant in full.  Where appropriate please 

give any registered number.  In the case of a partnership or other joint venture (other than a 

body corporate), please give the name and address of each party concerned. 
 

Name 
St James Club Limited 

Address 

Victoria House Churchill Road, Leckhampton, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire, GL53 7EG 

Registered number (where applicable) 

10810820 

Description of applicant (for example, partnership, company, unincorporated association etc.) 

Company 

Page 15



Telephone number (if any)  

      

E-mail address (optional) 

      

 

Part 3 Operating Schedule 

When do you want the premises licence to start? 
DD MM YYYY 

                
 

If you wish the licence to be valid only for a limited period, 

when do you want it to end? 

DD MM YYYY 

                
 

 

 

Please give a general description of the premises (please read guidance note 1) 

 

Basement level premises to be used as a general event space.  Premises will only be open for 

trading when for events that have pre-booked the venue.   

 

 

If 5,000 or more people are expected to attend the premises at any 

one time, please state the number expected to attend. 
      

 

 

What licensable activities do you intend to carry on from the premises? 

 

(please see sections 1 and 14 and Schedules 1 and 2 to the Licensing Act 2003) 

 

Provision of regulated entertainment (please read guidance note 2)         
Please tick all that 

apply 

a) plays (if ticking yes, fill in box A)  

b) films (if ticking yes, fill in box B)  

c) indoor sporting events (if ticking yes, fill in box C)  

d) boxing or wrestling entertainment (if ticking yes, fill in box D)  

e) live music (if ticking yes, fill in box E)  

f) recorded music (if ticking yes, fill in box F)  

g) performances of dance (if ticking yes, fill in box G)  

h) 
anything of a similar description to that falling within (e), (f) or (g)  

(if ticking yes, fill in box H) 
 

Page 16



 

Provision of late night refreshment (if ticking yes, fill in box I)   

Supply of alcohol (if ticking yes, fill in box J)  

 

In all cases complete boxes K, L and M

Page 17



A 

 

Plays  
Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7) 

Will the performance of a play take place 

indoors or outdoors or both – please tick 
(please read guidance note 3)   

 

Indoors  

Outdoors  

Day Start Finish Both  

Mon             Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4) 

      
            

Tue             

            

Wed             State any seasonal variations for performing plays (please read 

guidance note 5) 

                  

Thur             

            

Fri             Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises 

for the performance of plays at different times to those listed in 
the column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6) 

      

            

Sat             

            

Sun             

            

 

Page 18



B 
 

Films  
Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7) 

Will the exhibition of films take place 

indoors or outdoors or both – please tick 
(please read guidance note 3)  

 

Indoors  

Outdoors  

Day Start Finish Both  

Mon 10:00 00:00 Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4) 

      
            

Tue 10:00 00:00 

            

Wed 10:00 00:00 State any seasonal variations for the exhibition of films (please 

read guidance note 5) 

                  

Thur 10:00 00:00 

            

Fri 10:00 00:00 Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises 

for the exhibition of films at different times to those listed in the 
column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6) 

 

The terminal hour for all licensable activities and opening times will 

be extended by 2 hours on Christmas Eve, New Year's Eve, all Bank 

Holidays and all days on which races are held at Cheltenham 

Racecourse. 

            

Sat 10:00 00:00 

            

Sun 10:00 22:00 

            

 

Page 19



C 
 

Indoor sporting events  
Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7) 

Please give further details (please read guidance note 4) 

      

Day Start Finish 

Mon             

            

Tue             State any seasonal variations for indoor sporting events (please 

read guidance note 5) 

                  

Wed             

            

Thur             Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises 

for indoor sporting events at different times to those listed in the 

column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6) 

      

            

Fri             

            

Sat             

            

Sun             

            

 

Page 20



D 
 

Boxing or wrestling 

entertainments  

Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7) 

 

Will the boxing or wrestling entertainment 

take place indoors or outdoors or both – 

please tick (please read guidance note 3)   

 

Indoors  

Outdoors  

Day Start Finish Both  

Mon             Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4) 

      
            

Tue             

            

Wed             State any seasonal variations for boxing or wrestling 
entertainment (please read guidance note 5) 

                  

Thur             

            

Fri             Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises 

for boxing or wrestling entertainment at different times to those 

listed in the column on the left, please list (please read guidance 

note 6) 

      

            

Sat             

            

Sun             

            

 

Page 21



E 
 

Live music  
Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7) 

Will the performance of live music take place 

indoors or outdoors or both – please tick 
(please read guidance note 3)   

 

Indoors  

Outdoors  

Day Start Finish Both  

Mon 10:00 00:00 Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4) 

      
            

Tue 10:00 00:00 

            

Wed 10:00 00:00 State any seasonal variations for the performance of live music 
(please read guidance note 5) 

                  

Thur 10:00 00:00 

            

Fri 10:00 00:00 Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises 

for the performance of live music at different times to those 
listed in the column on the left, please list (please read guidance 

note 6) 

 

The terminal hour for all licensable activities and opening times will 

be extended by 2 hours on Christmas Eve, New Year's Eve, all Bank 

Holidays and all days on which races are held at Cheltenham 

Racecourse. 

            

Sat 10:00 00:00 

            

Sun 10:00 22:00 

            

 

Page 22



F 
 

Recorded music  
Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7) 

Will the playing of recorded music take place 

indoors or outdoors or both – please tick 
(please read guidance note 3)   

 

Indoors  

Outdoors  

Day Start Finish Both  

Mon 10:00 00:00 Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4) 

      
            

Tue 10:00 00:00 

            

Wed 10:00 00:00 State any seasonal variations for the playing of recorded music 

(please read guidance note 5) 

                  

Thur 10:00 00:00 

            

Fri 10:00 00:00 Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises 

for the playing of recorded music at different times to those 
listed in the column on the left, please list (please read guidance 

note 6) 

 

The terminal hour for all licensable activities and opening times will 

be extended by 2 hours on Christmas Eve, New Year's Eve, all Bank 

Holidays and all days on which races are held at Cheltenham 

Racecourse. 

            

Sat 10:00 00:00 

            

Sun 10:00 22:00 

            

 

Page 23



G 
 

Performances of 

dance 

Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7) 

 

Will the performance of dance take place 

indoors or outdoors or both – please tick 
(please read guidance note 3)   

 

Indoors  

Outdoors  

Day Start Finish Both  

Mon 10:00 00:00 Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4) 

      
            

Tue 10:00 00:00 

            

Wed 10:00 00:00 State any seasonal variations for the performance of dance 
(please read guidance note 5) 

                  

Thur 10:00 00:00 

            

Fri 10:00 00:00 Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises 

for the performance of dance at different times to those listed in 

the column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6) 

 

The terminal hour for all licensable activities and opening times will 

be extended by 2 hours on Christmas Eve, New Year's Eve, all Bank 

Holidays and all days on which races are held at Cheltenham 

Racecourse. 

            

Sat 10:00 00:00 

            

Sun 10:00 22:00 

            

 

Page 24



H 
 

Anything of a similar 

description to that 

falling within (e), (f) or 

(g) 

Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7) 

Please give a description of the type of entertainment you will be 

providing 

      

Day Start Finish Will this entertainment take place indoors or 

outdoors or both – please tick (please read 

guidance note 3)  

Indoors  

Mon             Outdoors  

            Both  

Tue             Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4) 

      
            

Wed             

            

Thur             State any seasonal variations for entertainment of a similar 

description to that falling within (e), (f) or (g)  (please read 

guidance note 5) 

      
            

Fri             

            

Sat 
            

Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises 

for the entertainment of a similar description to that falling 

within (e), (f) or (g) at different times to those listed in the 

column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6) 

      
            

Sun 
            

            

 

Page 25



 I 
 

Late night 

refreshment 

Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7) 

 

Will the provision of late night refreshment 

take place indoors or outdoors or both – 

please tick (please read guidance note 3)   

 

Indoors  

Outdoors  

Day Start Finish Both  

Mon 23:00 00:00 Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4) 

      
            

Tue 23:00 00:00 

            

Wed 23:00 00:00 State any seasonal variations for the provision of late night 
refreshment (please read guidance note 5) 

                  

Thur 23:00 00:00 

            

Fri 23:00 00:00 Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises 

for the provision of late night refreshment at different times, to 

those listed in the column on the left, please list (please read 

guidance note 6) 

 

The terminal hour for all licensable activities and opening times will 

be extended by 2 hours on Christmas Eve, New Year's Eve, all Bank 

Holidays and all days on which races are held at Cheltenham 

Racecourse. 

            

Sat 23:00 00:00 

            

Sun   

            

 

Page 26



J 
 

Supply of alcohol 
Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7) 

Will the supply of alcohol be for 
consumption – please tick (please read 

guidance note 8)   

 

On the 

premises 
 

Off the 

premises 
 

Day Start Finish Both  

Mon 10:00 00:00 State any seasonal variations for the supply of alcohol (please 

read guidance note 5) 

                  

Tue 10:00 00:00 

            

Wed 10:00 00:00 

            

Thur 10:00 00:00 Non standard timings.  Where you intend to use the premises 

for the supply of alcohol at different times to those listed in the 
column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6) 

 

The terminal hour for all licensable activities and opening times will 

be extended by 2 hours on Christmas Eve, New Year's Eve, all Bank 

Holidays and all days on which races are held at Cheltenham 

Racecourse. 

            

Fri 10:00 00:00 

            

Sat 10:00 00:00 

            

Sun 10:00 22:00 

            

 

State the name and details of the individual whom you wish to specify on the licence as 

designated premises supervisor (Please see declaration about the entitlement to work in the 

checklist at the end of the form): 

 

Name Mr James Elias 

Date of birth 19.08.1975                              

Address 

12 Little Grebe Road  

Bishops Cleeve  

Cheltenham  

 

Postcode GL52 8HP 

Personal licence number (if known) 

16/00635/PERL 

Issuing licensing authority (if known) 

Cheltenham Borough Council  

 

 

 

Page 27



K 
 

Please highlight any adult entertainment or services, activities, other entertainment or 

matters ancillary to the use of the premises that may give rise to concern in respect of 
children (please read guidance note 9). 

      

 

L 
 

Hours premises are 

open to the public 
Standard days and 

timings (please read 

guidance note 7) 

 

State any seasonal variations (please read guidance note 5) 

      

Day Start Finish 

Mon 10:00 00:00 

            

Tue 10:00 00:00 

            

Wed 10:00 00:00 

            Non standard timings.  Where you intend the premises to be 

open to the public at different times from those listed in the 

column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6) 

 

The terminal hour for all licensable activities and opening times will 

be extended by 2 hours on Christmas Eve, New Year's Eve, all Bank 

Holidays and all days on which races are held at Cheltenham 

Racecourse. 

Thur 10:00 00:00 

            

Fri 10:00 00:00 

            

Sat 10:00 00:00 

            

Sun 10:00 22:00 

            

 

 

Page 28



M  

 
Describe the steps you intend to take to promote the four licensing objectives: 

 

a) General – all four licensing objectives (b, c, d and e) (please read guidance note 10) 

Unless otherwise specified on this licence no licensable activities shall take place at the 

premises with the exception of pre-booked and/or ticketed events. 

 

b) The prevention of crime and disorder 

A CCTV system consisting of a minimum of 8 cameras shall be installed at the premises. The 

CCTV system shall be maintained in good working order, shall record at all times the premises 

are open, and recordings shall be kept for a minimum of 14 days and be provided on DVD to 

officers of the council, Trading Standards or Police on request. 

 

A staff member from the premises, who is conversant with the operation of the CCTV system, 

shall be on the premises at all times when the premises are open to the public. This staff 

member must be able to show the Police or Licensing Officer recent data or footage with the 

absolute minimum of delay when requested to do so. 

 

The Designated Premises Supervisor shall maintain an active membership of the Night Safe (or 

successor ‘pubwatch’) including operation of the Nightsafe radio link. 

 

SIA-registered door supervisors will be employed at the premises at a minimum of 2 for the 

first 100 customers and an additional door supervisor for every additional 50 customers. 

 

c) Public safety 

An incident log shall be kept at the premises and made available on request to the Police or an 

authorised officer of the council. The log will record the following: 

 

 all crimes reported to the venue 

 all ejections of customers 

 any incidents of disorder (disturbance caused either by one person or a group of 

people) [There is no requirement to record the above incidents (a), (b) or (c) where 

they do not relate to a licensable activity] 

 seizures of drugs or offensive weapons 

 any faults in the CCTV system or searching equipment or scanning equipment 

 any refusal of the sale of alcohol during the hours the premises is licensed to sell it 

 

 

d) The prevention of public nuisance 

A minimum of 30 minutes drinking-up time shall be provided to customers following closure 

of the Bar. 

 

The outside smoking area will be effectively managed by SIA-registered Door Supervisors and 

the number of people allowed to use the area at any one time will be restricted to no more than 

10% of the overall capacity at the time. 

 

Page 29



Prominent, clear notices shall be displayed at all exits requesting customers to respect the needs 

of local residents and leave the premises and the area quietly. 

 

e) The protection of children from harm 

A Challenge 25 policy shall be operated at the premises at all times. All staff shall require 

identification of all customers who appear to be less than 25 years old and wish to purchase 

alcohol. Acceptable proof of age will be a PASS approved proof of age card, UK passport or a 

UK photographic driving licence. 

Checklist: 

Please tick to indicate agreement 

 

 

 

I have made or enclosed payment of the fee. 

 

 

 I have enclosed the plan of the premises.  

 I have sent copies of this application and the plan to responsible authorities and 

others where applicable. 
 

 I have enclosed the consent form completed by the individual I wish to be 

designated premises supervisor, if applicable. 
 

 I understand that I must now advertise my application.  

 

 

 

I understand that if I do not comply with the above requirements my application will 

be rejected. 

[Applicable to all individual applicants, including those in a partnership which is not 

a limited liability partnership, but not companies or limited liability partnerships] I 

have included documents demonstrating my entitlement to work in the United 

Kingdom or my share code issued by the Home Office online right to work 

checking service (please read note 15). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

IT IS AN OFFENCE, UNDER SECTION 158 OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003, TO MAKE 

A FALSE STATEMENT IN OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS APPLICATION. THOSE 

WHO MAKE A FALSE STATEMENT MAY BE LIABLE ON SUMMARY CONVICTION 

TO A FINE OF ANY AMOUNT.   

 

IT IS AN OFFENCE UNDER SECTION 24B OF THE IMMIGRATION ACT 1971 FOR A 

PERSON TO WORK WHEN THEY KNOW, OR HAVE REASONABLE CAUSE TO 

BELIEVE, THAT THEY ARE DISQUALIFIED FROM DOING SO BY REASON OF 

THEIR IMMIGRATION STATUS. THOSE WHO EMPLOY AN ADULT WITHOUT 

LEAVE OR WHO IS SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS AS TO EMPLOYMENT WILL BE 

LIABLE TO A CIVIL PENALTY UNDER SECTION 15 OF THE IMMIGRATION, 

ASYLUM AND NATIONALITY ACT 2006 AND PURSUANT TO SECTION 21 OF THE 

SAME ACT, WILL BE COMMITTING AN OFFENCE WHERE THEY DO SO IN THE 

KNOWLEDGE, OR WITH REASONABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE, THAT THE 

EMPLOYEE IS DISQUALIFIED.  

 

Page 30



 
Part 4 – Signatures   (please read guidance note 11) 

 

Signature of applicant or applicant’s solicitor or other duly authorised agent (see guidance 

note 12).  If signing on behalf of the applicant, please state in what capacity.  

 

 

Declaration 

 [Applicable to individual applicants only, including those in a 

partnership which is not a limited liability partnership] I understand I 

am not entitled to be issued with a licence if I do not have the 

entitlement to live and work in the UK (or if I am subject to a 

condition preventing me from doing work relating to the carrying on 

of a licensable activity) and that my licence will become invalid if I 

cease to be entitled to live and work in the UK (please read guidance 

note 15).       

 

 The DPS named in this application form is entitled to work in the UK 

(and is not subject to conditions preventing him or her from doing 

work relating to a licensable activity) and I have seen a copy of his or 

her proof of entitlement to work, or have conducted an online right to 

work check using the Home Office online right to work checking 

service which confirmed their right to work (please see note 15) 

    

Signature James Elias 

Date      14/02/20 

Capacity      Director  

 

For joint applications, signature of 2nd applicant or 2nd applicant’s solicitor or other 

authorised agent (please read guidance note 13).  If signing on behalf of the applicant, please 

state in what capacity. 

 

Signature  

Date       

Capacity       

 

Contact name (where not previously given) and postal address for correspondence associated 

with this application (please read guidance note 14) 

      

Post town       Postcode       

Telephone number (if any)       

If you would prefer us to correspond with you by e-mail, your e-mail address (optional) 

      

 

 

Page 31



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes for Guidance 

 

1. Describe the premises, for example the type of premises, its general situation and layout 

and any other information which could be relevant to the licensing objectives. Where 

your application includes off-supplies of alcohol and you intend to provide a place for 

consumption of these off-supplies, you must include a description of where the place will 

be and its proximity to the premises. 

2. In terms of specific regulated entertainments please note that:  

 Plays: no licence is required for performances between 08:00 and 23.00 on any 

day, provided that the audience does not exceed 500. 

 Films: no licence is required for ‘not-for-profit’ film exhibition held in 

community premises between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day provided that the 

audience does not exceed 500 and the organiser (a) gets consent to the screening 

from a person who is responsible for the premises; and (b) ensures that each such 

screening abides by age classification ratings. 

 Indoor sporting events: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 

and 23.00 on any day, provided that the audience does not exceed 1000.     

 Boxing or Wrestling Entertainment:  no licence is required for a contest, 

exhibition or display of Greco-Roman wrestling, or freestyle wrestling between 

08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the audience does not exceed 1000. 

Combined fighting sports – defined as a contest, exhibition or display which 

combines boxing or wrestling with one or more martial arts – are licensable as a 

boxing or wrestling entertainment rather than an indoor sporting event. 

 Live music: no licence permission is required for: 

o a performance of unamplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on 

any day, on any premises. 

o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any 

day on premises authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on those 

premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500. 

o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any 

day, in a workplace that is not licensed to sell alcohol on those premises, 

provided that the audience does not exceed 500.  

o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any 

day, in a church hall, village hall, community hall, or other similar 

community premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell 

alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the 

organiser gets consent for the performance from a person who is 

responsible for the premises. 

Page 32



o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any 

day, at the non-residential premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a 

school, or (iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 

500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance on the 

relevant premises from: (i) the local authority concerned, or (ii) the 

school or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital. 

 Recorded Music: no licence permission is required for: 

o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on 

premises authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on those premises, 

provided that the audience does not exceed 500. 

o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a 

church hall, village hall, community hall, or other similar community 

premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell alcohol, 

provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser 

gets consent for the performance from a person who is responsible for 

the premises. 

o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at 

the non-residential premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or 

(iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and 

(b) the organiser gets consent for the performance on the relevant 

premises from: (i) the local authority concerned, or (ii) the school 

proprietor or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital. 

 Dance: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any 

day, provided that the audience does not exceed 500. However, a performance 

which amounts to adult entertainment remains licensable. 

 Cross activity exemptions: no licence is required between 08.00 and 23.00 on 

any day, with no limit on audience size for:    

o any entertainment taking place on the premises of the local authority 

where the entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the local 

authority;  

o any entertainment taking place on the hospital premises of the health 

care provider where the entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the 

health care provider;  

o any entertainment taking place on the premises of the school where the 

entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the school proprietor; and 

o any entertainment (excluding films and a boxing or wrestling 

entertainment) taking place at a travelling circus, provided that (a) it 

takes place within a moveable structure that accommodates the audience, 

and (b) that the travelling circus has not been located on the same site for 

more than 28 consecutive days.                                                              

3. Where taking place in a building or other structure please tick as appropriate (indoors 

may include a tent). 

4. For example the type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant 

further details, for example (but not exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified 

or unamplified. 

5. For example (but not exclusively), where the activity will occur on additional days during 

the summer months. 

6. For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a 

particular day e.g. Christmas Eve. 

7. Please give timings in 24 hour clock (e.g. 16.00) and only give details for the days of the 

week when you intend the premises to be used for the activity. 

8. If you wish people to be able to consume alcohol on the premises, please tick ‘on the 

premises’.  If you wish people to be able to purchase alcohol to consume away from the 

premises, please tick ‘off the premises’.  If you wish people to be able to do both, please 

tick ‘both’. 
9. Please give information about anything intended to occur at the premises or ancillary to 

the use of the premises which may give rise to concern in respect of children, regardless 

Page 33



of whether you intend children to have access to the premises, for example (but not 

exclusively) nudity or semi-nudity, films for restricted age groups or the presence of 

gaming machines. 

10. Please list here steps you will take to promote all four licensing objectives together. 

11. The application form must be signed. 

12. An applicant’s agent (for example solicitor) may sign the form on their behalf provided 

that they have actual authority to do so. 

13. Where there is more than one applicant, each of the applicants or their respective agent 

must sign the application form. 

14. This is the address which we shall use to correspond with you about this application. 

 

15. Entitlement to work/immigration status for individual applicants and applications 

from partnerships which are not limited liability partnerships: 

 
A licence may not be held by an individual or an individual in a partnership who is 

resident in the UK who:  

 does not have the right to live and work in the UK; or  

 is subject to a condition preventing him or her from doing work relating to the 

carrying on of a licensable activity.  

 

Any premises licence issued in respect of an application made on or after 6 April 2017 

will become invalid if the holder ceases to be entitled to work in the UK. 

 

Applicants must demonstrate that they have an entitlement to work in the UK and are not 

subject to a condition preventing them from doing work relating to the carrying on of a 

licensable activity. They do this in one of two ways: 1) by providing with this application 

copies or scanned copies of the documents listed below (which do not need to be 

certified), or 2) by providing their ‘share code’ to enable the licensing authority to carry 

out a check using the Home Office online right to work checking service (see below). 

Documents which demonstrate entitlement to work in the UK 

 

 An expired or current passport showing the holder, or a person named in the passport 

as the child of the holder, is a British citizen or a citizen of the UK and Colonies 

having the right of abode in the UK [please see note below about which sections of the 

passport to copy]. 

 

 An expired or current passport or national identity card showing the holder, or a 

person named in the passport as the child of the holder, is a national of a European 

Economic Area country or Switzerland. 

 

 A Registration Certificate or document certifying permanent residence issued by the 

Home Office to a national of a European Economic Area country or Switzerland. 

 

 A Permanent Residence Card issued by the Home Office to the family member of a 

national of a European Economic Area country or Switzerland. 

 

 A current Biometric Immigration Document (Biometric Residence Permit) issued by 

the Home Office to the holder indicating that the person named is allowed to stay 

indefinitely in the UK, or has no time limit on their stay in the UK. 

 

 A current passport endorsed to show that the holder is exempt from immigration 

control, is allowed to stay indefinitely in the UK, has the right of abode in the UK, or 

has no time limit on their stay in the UK. 

Page 34



 

 A current Immigration Status Document issued by the Home Office to the holder 

with an endorsement indicating that the named person is allowed to stay indefinitely 

in the UK or has no time limit on their stay in the UK, when produced in 

combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent National 

Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous 

employer. 

 

 A birth or adoption certificate issued in the UK, when produced in combination 

with an official document giving the person’s permanent National Insurance number 

and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer. 

 

 A birth or adoption certificate issued in the Channel Islands, the Isle of Man or 

Ireland when produced in combination with an official document giving the 

person’s permanent National Insurance number and their name issued by a 

Government agency or a previous employer. 

 

 A certificate of registration or naturalisation as a British citizen, when produced in 

combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent National 

Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous 

employer. 

 

 A current passport endorsed to show that the holder is allowed to stay in the UK and 

is currently allowed to work and is not subject to a condition preventing the holder 

from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity. 

 

 A current Biometric Immigration Document (Biometric Residence Permit) issued by 

the Home Office to the holder which indicates that the named person can currently 

stay in the UK and is allowed to work relation to the carrying on of a licensable 

activity. 

 

 A current Residence Card issued by the Home Office to a person who is not a 

national of a European Economic Area state or Switzerland but who is a family 

member of such a national or who has derivative rights or residence. 

  

 A current Immigration Status Document containing a photograph issued by the 

Home Office to the holder with an endorsement indicating that the named person may 

stay in the UK, and is allowed to work and is not subject to a condition preventing the 

holder from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity when 

produced in combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent 

National Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency or a 

previous employer. 

 

 A Certificate of Application, less than 6 months old, issued by the Home Office 

under regulation 18(3) or 20(2) of the Immigration (European Economic Area) 

Regulations 2016, to a person who is not a national of a European Economic Area state 

or Switzerland but who is a family member of such a national or who has derivative 

rights of residence.  

 

Page 35



 Reasonable evidence that the person has an outstanding application to vary their 

permission to be in the UK with the Home Office such as the Home Office 

acknowledgement letter or proof of postage evidence, or reasonable evidence that the 

person has an appeal or administrative review pending on an immigration decision, 

such as an appeal or administrative review reference number. 

 

 Reasonable evidence that a person who is not a national of a European Economic 

Area state or Switzerland but who is a family member of such a national or who has 

derivative rights of residence in exercising treaty rights in the UK including:  

o evidence of the applicant’s own identity – such as a passport,  

o evidence of their relationship with the European Economic Area family 

member – e.g. a marriage certificate, civil partnership certificate or birth 

certificate, and 

o evidence that the European Economic Area national has a right of 

permanent residence in the UK or is one of the following if they have been 

in the UK for more than 3 months: 

(i) working e.g. employment contract, wage slips, letter from the 

employer, 

(ii) self-employed e.g. contracts, invoices, or audited accounts with a 

bank, 

(iii) studying e.g. letter from the school, college or university and evidence 

of sufficient funds; or 

(iv) self-sufficient e.g. bank statements. 

 

Family members of European Economic Area nationals who are studying or financially 

independent must also provide evidence that the European Economic Area national and any 

family members hold comprehensive sickness insurance in the UK. This can include a private 

medical insurance policy, an EHIC card or an S1, S2 or S3 form. 

 

Original documents must not be sent to licensing authorities. If the document copied is a 

passport, a copy of the following pages should be provided: 

 

(i)   any page containing the holder’s personal details including nationality; 

(ii)  any page containing the holder’s photograph; 

(iii) any page containing the holder’s signature; 

(iv) any page containing the date of expiry; and 

(v)  any page containing information indicating the holder has permission to enter or remain in  

       the UK and is permitted to work. 

 

If the document is not a passport, a copy of the whole document should be provided. 

 

Your right to work will be checked as part of your licensing application and this could involve 

us checking your immigration status with the Home Office. We may otherwise share 

information with the Home Office. Your licence application will not be determined until you 

have complied with this guidance.  
 
Home Office online right to work checking service 

 
As an alternative to providing a copy of the documents listed above, applicants may 

demonstrate their right to work by allowing the licensing authority to carry out a check with 

the Home Office online right to work checking service.  

 

To demonstrate their right to work via the Home Office online right to work checking service, 

applicants should include in this application their 9-digit share code (provided to them upon 

accessing the service at https://www.gov.uk/prove-right-to-work) which, along with the 

Page 36

https://www.gov.uk/prove-right-to-work


applicant’s date of birth (provided within this application), will allow the licensing authority to 

carry out the check.  

 

In order to establish the applicant’s right to work, the check will need to indicate that the 

applicant is allowed to work in the United Kingdom and is not subject to a condition 

preventing them from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity. 

 

An online check will not be possible in all circumstances because not all applicants will have 

an immigration status that can be checked online. The Home Office online right to work 

checking service sets out what information and/or documentation applicants will need in order 

to access the service. Applicants who are unable to obtain a share code from the service should 

submit copy documents as set out above.  

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Page 55

http://www.tcpdf.org


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Page 119

http://www.tcpdf.org


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Page 165

http://www.tcpdf.org


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Page 192

http://www.tcpdf.org


Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Page 240

http://www.tcpdf.org


Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Page 280

http://www.tcpdf.org


Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



Page 284



Page 285



Page 286



Page 287



Page 288



Page 289



Page 290



Page 291



Page 292



Page 293



Page 294



Page 295



Page 296



Page 297



Page 298



Page 299



Page 300



Page 301



Page 302



Page 303



Page 304



Page 305



Page 306



Page 307



Page 308



Page 309



Page 310



Page 311



Page 312



Page 313



Page 314



Page 315



Page 316



Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Page 317

http://www.tcpdf.org


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 319



Page 320



Page 321



Page 322



Page 323



Page 324



Page 325



Page 326



Page 327



Page 328



Page 329



Page 330



Page 331



Page 332



Page 333



Page 334



Page 335



Page 336



Page 337



Page 338



Page 339



Page 340



Page 341



Page 342



Page 343



Page 344



Page 345



Page 346



Page 347



Page 348



Page 349



Page 350



Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Page 351

http://www.tcpdf.org


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 353



Page 354



Page 355



Page 356



Page 357



Page 358



Page 359



Page 360



Page 361



Page 362



Page 363



Page 364



Page 365



Page 366



Page 367



Page 368



Page 369



Page 370



Page 371



Page 372



Page 373



Page 374



Page 375



Page 376



Page 377



Page 378



Page 379



Page 380



Page 381



Page 382



Page 383



Page 384



Page 385



Page 386



Page 387



Page 388



Page 389



Page 390



Page 391



Page 392



Page 393



Page 394



Page 395



Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Page 396

http://www.tcpdf.org


Comments for Licensing Application 20/00454/PRMA

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 20/00454/PRMA

Address: Gibson House St James Square Cheltenham Gloucestershire GL50 3QG

Proposal: Application for New Premises Licence

Case Officer: Mr Jason Kirkwood

 

Customer Details

Name: Mrs sharman davies

Address: 4 Somerset House, Knapp Road, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire GL50 3QQ

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Licensing Application

Comment Reasons:

Comment:9:52 AM on 23 Feb 2020 Objection.

St James Square and surrounding area is a mainly a quiet residential and office area comprising

of houses, apartments and senior citizens sheltered housing at Somerset House. If Gibson House

is allowed to reopen as a nightclub it will result in the area being plagued by antisocial behaviour,

drunkenness, drug use and dealing, people urinating and having sex in our garden. We know this

to be a fact because of previous experience when Gibson House was The Gas Nightclub. The

reopening of this nightclub will plight the whole area and result in the police having unnecessary

extra work.

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

APPENDIX 4 j
Page 397



Comments for Licensing Application 20/00454/PRMA

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 20/00454/PRMA

Address: Gibson House St James Square Cheltenham Gloucestershire GL50 3QG

Proposal: Application for New Premises Licence

Case Officer: Mr Jason Kirkwood

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Conrad Clarke

Address: Nexus House, Knapp Road, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire GL50 3QQ

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Licensing Application

Comment Reasons:

Comment:11:19 AM on 25 Feb 2020 While I would love to see this building renovated and put to

some use, I have some serious concerns about that use being a club. Particularly with it being in a

residential/business neighbour hood:

 

Noise: Despite being close to the town centre, its an extremely quiet neighbourhood currently. The

combination of an application for a license to sell alcohol as well as playing music from 10am-

12am (10pm on Sunday) 7 days a week, is with out question going to create noise and be a public

nuisance. Also there will inevitably be noise from the smoking area, as well as the people coming

and going. A late night club full of 100s of people is just not suitable for the area:

 

- Parking: The streets in this parking zone are already really congested. I don't see how the club

could have any dedicated parking for all their customers or staff either.

 

- House Prices: This area has improved enormously in recent years, with lots of people spending a

huge amount of money improving their homes, and the overall character/look of the area. This

makes me extremely concerned, as I don't think having a club at the end of the road will help

anyone when it comes to selling/renting in the future.

 

- I don't think having a club so close to a school or nurseries is a very responsible idea either.

 

- Similar applications have been made in the last 10 years and the licensing committee refused the

application on the grounds of public nuisance, crime and disorder. Surely exactly the same would

be true now

 

I hope you can understand my points, and take the above into consideration.

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Page 398

http://www.tcpdf.org


Page 399



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 401



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 403



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 405



This page is intentionally left blank



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the 

Licensing Act 2003 - April 2018 

Contents 

1. Introduction  

2. The licensing objectives  

3. Licensable activities  

4. Personal licences  

5. Who needs a premises licence?  

6. Club premises certificates  

7. Temporary Event Notices (TENs)  

8. Applications for premises licences  

9. Determining applications  

10. Conditions attached to premises licences and club premises certificates  

11. Reviews  

12. Summary reviews  

13. Appeals  

14. Statements of licensing policy  

15. Licence fees  

16. Regulated entertainment  

17. Early morning alcohol restriction orders  

 

1. Introduction 

The Licensing Act 2003 

1.2 The legislation provides a clear focus on the promotion of four statutory objectives which must be addressed 

when licensing functions are undertaken. 

1.3 The licensing objectives are: 

• The prevention of crime and disorder; 

• Public safety; 

• The prevention of public nuisance; and 

• The protection of children from harm. 

Page 407



1.4 Each objective is of equal importance. There are no other statutory licensing objectives, so that the promotion 

of the four objectives is a paramount consideration at all times. 

1.5 However, the legislation also supports a number of other key aims and purposes. These are vitally 

important and should be principal aims for everyone involved in licensing work. They include: 

• protecting the public and local residents from crime, anti-social behaviour and noise nuisance caused by 

irresponsible licensed premises; 

• giving the police and licensing authorities the powers they need to effectively manage and police the night-

time economy and take action against those premises that are causing problems; 

• recognising the important role which pubs and other licensed premises play in our local communities by 

minimising the regulatory burden on business, encouraging innovation and supporting responsible premises; 

• providing a regulatory framework for alcohol which reflects the needs of local communities and empowers 

local authorities to make and enforce decisions about the most appropriate licensing strategies for their local 

area; and 

• encouraging greater community involvement in licensing decisions and giving local residents the opportunity 

to have their say regarding licensing decisions that may affect them. 

The guidance 

1.6 Section 182 of the 2003 Act provides that the Secretary of State must issue and, from time to time, may revise 

guidance to licensing authorities on the discharge of their functions under the 2003 Act. …. 

Purpose 

1.7 This Guidance is provided to licensing authorities in relation to the carrying out of their functions under the 

2003 Act. It also provides information to magistrates’ courts hearing appeals against licensing decisions and has 

been made widely available for the benefit of those who run licensed premises, their legal advisers and the 

general public. It is a key medium for promoting best practice, ensuring consistent application of licensing powers 

across England and Wales and for promoting fairness, equal treatment and proportionality. 

… 

Legal status 

1.9 Section 4 of the 2003 Act provides that, in carrying out its functions, a licensing authority must ‘have regard 

to’ guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 182. This Guidance is therefore binding on all 

licensing authorities to that extent. However, this Guidance cannot anticipate every possible scenario or set of 

circumstances that may arise and, as long as licensing authorities have properly understood this Guidance, they 

may depart from it if they have good reason to do so and can provide full reasons. Departure from this 

Guidance could give rise to an appeal or judicial review, and the reasons given will then be a key consideration 

for the courts when considering the lawfulness and merits of any decision taken. 

1.10 Nothing in this Guidance should be taken as indicating that any requirement of licensing law or any other law 

may be overridden (including the obligations placed on any public authorities under human rights legislation). 

This Guidance does not in any way replace the statutory provisions of the 2003 Act or add to its scope and 

licensing authorities should note that interpretation of the 2003 Act is a matter for the courts. Licensing 

authorities and others using this Guidance must take their own professional and legal advice about its 

implementation. 

Page 408



Licensing policies 

1.11 Section 5 of the 2003 Act requires a licensing authority to determine and publish a statement of its 

licensing policy at least once every five years. The policy must be published before it carries out any licensing 

functions under the 2003 Act. 

1.12 However, determining and publishing a statement of its policy is a licensing function and as such the 

authority must have regard to this Guidance when taking this step. A licensing authority may depart from its own 

policy if the individual circumstances of any case merit such a decision in the interests of the promotion of the 

licensing objectives. But once again, it is important that it should be able to give full reasons for departing from its 

published statement of licensing policy. Where revisions to this Guidance are issued by the Secretary of State, 

there may be a period of time when the licensing policy statement is inconsistent with the Guidance (for example, 

during any consultation by the licensing authority). In these circumstances, the licensing authority should have 

regard, and give appropriate weight, to this Guidance and its own existing licensing policy statement. 

… 

General principles 

1.15 If an application for a premises licence or club premises certificate has been made lawfully and there have 

been no representations from responsible authorities or other persons, the licensing authority must grant the 

application, subject only to conditions that are consistent with the operating schedule and relevant mandatory 

conditions. It is recommended that licence applicants contact responsible authorities when preparing their 

operating schedules. 

Licence conditions – general principles 

1.16 Conditions on a premises licence or club premises certificate are important in setting the parameters 

within which premises can lawfully operate. The use of wording such as “must”, “shall” and “will” is 

encouraged. Licence conditions: 

• must be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives; 

• must be precise and enforceable; 

• must be unambiguous and clear in what they intend to achieve; 

• should not duplicate other statutory requirements or other duties or responsibilities placed on the employer 

by other legislation; 

• must be tailored to the individual type, location and characteristics of the premises and events concerned; 

• should not be standardised and may be unlawful when it cannot be demonstrated that they are appropriate 

for the promotion of the licensing objectives in an individual case; 

• should not replicate offences set out in the 2003 Act or other legislation; 

• should be proportionate, justifiable and be capable of being met; 

• cannot seek to manage the behaviour of customers once they are beyond the direct management of the 

licence holder and their staff, but may impact on the behaviour of customers in the immediate vicinity of the 

premises or as they enter or leave; and 

• should be written in a prescriptive format. 

 

Page 409



Each application on its own merits 

1.17 Each application must be considered on its own merits and in accordance with the licensing authority’s 

statement of licensing policy; for example, if the application falls within the scope of a cumulative impact 

policy. Conditions attached to licences and certificates must be tailored to the individual type, location and 

characteristics of the premises and events concerned. This is essential to avoid the imposition of 

disproportionate and overly burdensome conditions on premises where there is no need for such conditions. 

Standardised conditions should be avoided and indeed may be unlawful where they cannot be shown to be 

appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in an individual case. 

… 

Other relevant legislation 

1.19 While licence conditions should not duplicate other statutory provisions, licensing authorities and licensees 

should be mindful of requirements and responsibilities placed on them by other legislation. Legislation which may 

be relevant includes: 

• The Gambling Act 2005 

• The Environmental Protection Act 1990 

• The Noise Act 1996 

• The Clean Neighbourhoods and Environmental Act 2005 

• The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 

• The Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 

• The Equality Act 2010 

• The Immigration Act 2016 

• Regulators’ Code under the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 

2. The licensing objectives 

Crime and disorder 

2.1 Licensing authorities should look to the police as the main source of advice on crime and disorder. They 

should also seek to involve the local Community Safety Partnership (CSP). 

… 

2.3 Conditions should be targeted on deterrence and preventing crime and disorder including the prevention of 

illegal working in licensed premises (see paragraph 10.10). For example, where there is good reason to suppose 

that disorder may take place, the presence of closed-circuit television (CCTV) cameras both inside and 

immediately outside the premises can actively deter disorder, nuisance, anti-social behaviour and crime generally. 

Some licence holders may wish to have cameras on their premises for the prevention of crime directed against 

the business itself, its staff, or its customers. But any condition may require a broader approach, and it may be 

appropriate to ensure that the precise location of cameras is set out on plans to ensure that certain areas are 

properly covered and there is no subsequent dispute over the terms of the condition. 

2.4 The inclusion of radio links and ring-round phone systems should be considered an appropriate condition for 

public houses, bars and nightclubs operating in city and town centre leisure areas with a high density of licensed 

Page 410



premises. These systems allow managers of licensed premises to communicate instantly with the police and 

facilitate a rapid response to any disorder which may be endangering the customers and staff on the premises. 

2.5 Conditions relating to the management competency of designated premises supervisors should not normally 

be attached to premises licences. It will normally be the responsibility of the premises licence holder as an 

employer, and not the licensing authority, to ensure that the managers appointed at the premises are competent 

and appropriately trained. The designated premises supervisor is the key person who will usually be responsible 

for the day to day management of the premises by the premises licence holder, including the prevention of 

disorder. A condition of this kind may only be justified as appropriate in rare circumstances where it can be 

demonstrated that, in the circumstances associated with particular premises, poor management competency 

could give rise to issues of crime and disorder and public safety. 

2.6 The prevention of crime includes the prevention of immigration crime including the prevention of illegal 

working in licensed premises. Licensing authorities should work with Home Office Immigration Enforcement, as 

well as the police, in respect of these matters. Licence conditions that are considered appropriate for the 

prevention of illegal working in licensed premises might include requiring a premises licence holder to undertake 

right to work checks on all staff employed at the licensed premises or requiring that a copy of any document 

checked as part of a right to work check are retained at the licensed premises. 

Public safety 

2.7 Licence holders have a responsibility to ensure the safety of those using their premises, as a part of their 

duties under the 2003 Act. This concerns the safety of people using the relevant premises rather than public 

health which is addressed in other legislation. Physical safety includes the prevention of accidents and injuries 

and other immediate harms that can result from alcohol consumption such as unconsciousness or alcohol 

poisoning. Conditions relating to public safety may also promote the crime and disorder objective as noted above. 

There will of course be occasions when a public safety condition could incidentally benefit a person’s health more 

generally, but it should not be the purpose of the condition as this would be outside the licensing authority’s 

powers (be ultra vires) under the 2003 Act. Conditions should not be imposed on a premises licence or club 

premises certificate which relate to cleanliness or hygiene. 

2.8 A number of matters should be considered in relation to public safety. These may include: 

• Fire safety; 

• Ensuring appropriate access for emergency services such as ambulances; 

• Good communication with local authorities and emergency services, for example communications networks 

with the police and signing up for local incident alerts (see paragraph 2.4 above); 

• Ensuring the presence of trained first aiders on the premises and appropriate first aid kits; 

• Ensuring the safety of people when leaving the premises (for example, through the provision of information on 

late-night transportation); 

• Ensuring appropriate and frequent waste disposal, particularly of glass bottles; 

• Ensuring appropriate limits on the maximum capacity of the premises (see paragraphs 2.12-2.13, and Chapter 

10; and 

• Considering the use of CCTV in and around the premises (as noted in paragraph 2.3 above, this may also assist 

with promoting the crime and disorder objective). 

Page 411



2.9 The measures that are appropriate to promote public safety will vary between premises and the matters 

listed above may not apply in all cases. As set out in Chapter 8 (8.38- 8.46), applicants should consider when 

making their application which steps it is appropriate to take to promote the public safety objective and 

demonstrate how they achieve that. 

Ensuring safe departure of those using the premises 

2.10 Licence holders should make provision to ensure that premises users safely leave their premises. Measures 

that may assist include: 

• Providing information on the premises of local taxi companies who can provide safe transportation home; and 

• Ensuring adequate lighting outside the premises, particularly on paths leading to and from the premises and in 

car parks. 

Maintenance and repair 

2.11 Where there is a requirement in other legislation for premises open to the public or for employers to possess 

certificates attesting to the safety or satisfactory nature of certain equipment or fixtures on the premises, it 

would be inappropriate for a licensing condition to require possession of such a certificate. However, it would be 

permissible to require as a condition of a licence or certificate, if appropriate, checks on this equipment to be 

conducted at specified intervals and for evidence of these checks to be retained by the premises licence holder or 

club provided this does not duplicate or gold-plate a requirement in other legislation. Similarly, it would be 

permissible for licensing authorities, if they receive relevant representations from responsible authorities or any 

other persons, to attach conditions which require equipment of particular standards to be maintained on the 

premises. Responsible authorities – such as health and safety authorities – should therefore make their 

expectations clear in this respect to enable prospective licence holders or clubs to prepare effective operating 

schedules and club operating schedules. 

Safe capacities 

2.12 “Safe capacities” should only be imposed where appropriate for the promotion of public safety or the 

prevention of disorder on the relevant premises. For example, if a capacity has been imposed through other 

legislation, it would be inappropriate to reproduce it in a premises licence. Indeed, it would also be wrong to lay 

down conditions which conflict with other legal requirements. However, if no safe capacity has been imposed 

through other legislation, a responsible authority may consider it appropriate for a new capacity to be attached to 

the premises which would apply at any material time when the licensable activities are taking place and make 

representations to that effect. For example, in certain circumstances, capacity limits may be appropriate in 

preventing disorder, as overcrowded venues can increase the risks of crowds becoming frustrated and hostile. 

2.13 The permitted capacity is a limit on the number of persons who may be on the premises at any time, 

following a recommendation by the relevant fire and rescue authority under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) 

Order 2005. For any application for a premises licence or club premises certificate for premises without an 

existing permitted capacity where the applicant wishes to take advantage of the special provisions set out in 

section 177 of the 2003 Act , the applicant should conduct their own risk assessment as to the appropriate 

capacity of the premises. They should send their recommendation to the fire and rescue authority which will 

consider it and decide what the “permitted capacity” of those premises should be. 

2.14 Public safety may include the safety of performers appearing at any premises, but does not extend to the 

prevention of injury from participation in a boxing or wrestling entertainment. 

 

Page 412



Public nuisance 

2.15 The 2003 Act enables licensing authorities and responsible authorities, through representations, to consider 

what constitutes public nuisance and what is appropriate to prevent it in terms of conditions attached to specific 

premises licences and club premises certificates. It is therefore important that in considering the promotion of 

this licensing objective, licensing authorities and responsible authorities focus on the effect of the licensable 

activities at the specific premises on persons living and working (including those carrying on business) in the area 

around the premises which may be disproportionate and unreasonable. The issues will mainly concern noise 

nuisance, light pollution, noxious smells and litter. 

2.16 Public nuisance is given a statutory meaning in many pieces of legislation. It is however not narrowly defined 

in the 2003 Act and retains its broad common law meaning. It may include in appropriate circumstances the 

reduction of the living and working amenity and environment of other persons living and working in the area of 

the licensed premises. Public nuisance may also arise as a result of the adverse effects of artificial light, dust, 

odour and insects or where its effect is prejudicial to health. 

2.17 Conditions relating to noise nuisance will usually concern steps appropriate to control the levels of noise 

emanating from premises. This might be achieved by a simple measure such as ensuring that doors and windows 

are kept closed after a particular time, or persons are not permitted in garden areas of the premises after a 

certain time. More sophisticated measures like the installation of acoustic curtains or rubber speaker mounts to 

mitigate sound escape from the premises may be appropriate. However, conditions in relation to live or recorded 

music may not be enforceable in circumstances where the entertainment activity itself is not licensable (see 

chapter 16). Any conditions appropriate to promote the prevention of public nuisance should be tailored to the 

type, nature and characteristics of the specific premises and its licensable activities. Licensing authorities should 

avoid inappropriate or disproportionate measures that could deter events that are valuable to the community, 

such as live music. Noise limiters, for example, are expensive to purchase and install and are likely to be a 

considerable burden for smaller venues. 

2.18 As with all conditions, those relating to noise nuisance may not be appropriate in certain circumstances 

where provisions in other legislation adequately protect those living in the area of the premises. But as stated 

earlier in this Guidance, the approach of licensing authorities and responsible authorities should be one of 

prevention and when their powers are engaged, licensing authorities should be aware of the fact that other 

legislation may not adequately cover concerns raised in relevant representations and additional conditions may 

be appropriate. 

2.19 Where applications have given rise to representations, any appropriate conditions should normally focus on 

the most sensitive periods. For example, the most sensitive period for people being disturbed by unreasonably 

loud music is at night and into the early morning when residents in adjacent properties may be attempting to go 

to sleep or are sleeping. This is why there is still a need for a licence for performances of live music between 11 

pm and 8 am. In certain circumstances, conditions relating to noise emanating from the premises may also be 

appropriate to address any disturbance anticipated as customers enter and leave. 

2.20 Measures to control light pollution will also require careful thought. Bright lighting outside premises which is 

considered appropriate to prevent crime and disorder may itself give rise to light pollution for some neighbours. 

Applicants, licensing authorities and responsible authorities will need to balance these issues. 

2.21 Beyond the immediate area surrounding the premises, these are matters for the personal responsibility of 

individuals under the law. An individual who engages in antisocial behaviour is accountable in their own right. 

However, it would be perfectly reasonable for a licensing authority to impose a condition, following relevant 

representations, that requires the licence holder or club to place signs at the exits from the building encouraging 

Page 413



patrons to be quiet until they leave the area, or that, if they wish to smoke, to do so at designated places on the 

premises instead of outside, and to respect the rights of people living nearby to a peaceful night. 

Protection of children from harm 

2.22 The protection of children from harm includes the protection of children from moral, psychological and 

physical harm. This includes not only protecting children from the harms associated directly with alcohol 

consumption but also wider harms such as exposure to strong language and sexual expletives (for example, in the 

context of exposure to certain films or adult entertainment). Licensing authorities must also consider the need to 

protect children from sexual exploitation when undertaking licensing functions. 

2.23 The Government believes that it is completely unacceptable to sell alcohol to children. Conditions relating to 

the access of children where alcohol is sold and which are appropriate to protect them from harm should be 

carefully considered. Moreover, conditions restricting the access of children to premises should be strongly 

considered in circumstances where: 

• adult entertainment is provided; 

• a member or members of the current management have been convicted for serving alcohol to minors or with a 

reputation for allowing underage drinking (other than in the context of the exemption in the 2003 Act relating to 

16 and 17 year olds consuming beer, wine and cider when accompanied by an adult during a table meal); 

• it is known that unaccompanied children have been allowed access; 

• there is a known association with drug taking or dealing; or 

• in some cases, the premises are used exclusively or primarily for the sale of alcohol for consumption on the 

premises. 

2.24 It is also possible that activities, such as adult entertainment, may take place at certain times on premises 

but not at other times. For example, premises may operate as a café bar during the day providing meals for 

families but also provide entertainment with a sexual content after 8.00pm. It is not possible to give an 

exhaustive list of what amounts to entertainment or services of an adult or sexual nature. Applicants, responsible  

authorities and licensing authorities will need to consider this point carefully. This would broadly include topless 

bar staff, striptease, lap-, table- or pole-dancing, performances involving feigned violence or horrific incidents, 

feigned or actual sexual acts or fetishism, or entertainment involving strong and offensive language. 

2.25 Applicants must be clear in their operating schedules about the activities and times at 

which the events would take place to help determine when it is not appropriate for children to enter the 

premises. Consideration should also be given to the proximity of premises to schools and youth clubs so that 

applicants take appropriate steps to ensure that advertising relating to their premises, or relating to events at 

their premises, is not displayed at a time when children are likely to be near the premises. 

2.26 Licensing authorities and responsible authorities should expect applicants, when preparing an operating 

schedule or club operating schedule, to set out the steps to be taken to protect children from harm when on the 

premises.  

2.27 Conditions, where they are appropriate, should reflect the licensable activities taking place on the premises. 

In addition to the mandatory condition regarding age verification, other conditions relating to the protection of 

children from harm can include: 

• restrictions on the hours when children may be present; 

Page 414



• restrictions or exclusions on the presence of children under certain ages when particular specified activities are 

taking place; 

• restrictions on the parts of the premises to which children may have access; 

• age restrictions (below 18); 

• restrictions or exclusions when certain activities are taking place; 

• requirements for an accompanying adult (including for example, a combination of requirements which provide 

that children under a particular age must be accompanied by an adult); and 

• full exclusion of people under 18 from the premises when any licensable activities are taking place. 

2.28 Please see also Chapter 10 for details about the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 

2010. 

2.29 Licensing authorities should give considerable weight to representations about child protection matters. In 

addition to the responsible authority whose functions relate directly to child protection, the Director of Public 

Health may also have access to relevant evidence to inform such representations. These representations may 

include, amongst other things, the use of health data about the harms that alcohol can cause to underage 

drinkers. Where a responsible authority, or other person, presents evidence to the licensing authority linking 

specific premises with harms to children (such as ambulance data or emergency department attendances by 

persons under 18 years old with alcohol- related illnesses or injuries) this evidence should be considered, and the 

licensing authority should also consider what action is appropriate to ensure this licensing objective is effectively 

enforced. In relation to applications for the grant of a licence in areas where evidence is presented on high levels 

of alcohol-related harms in persons aged under 18, it is recommended that the licensing authority considers what 

conditions may be appropriate to ensure that this objective is promoted effectively. 

2.30 The 2003 Act provides that, where a premises licence or club premises certificate authorises the exhibition of 

a film, it must include a condition requiring the admission of children to films to be restricted in accordance with 

recommendations given either by a body designated under section 4 of the Video Recordings Act 1984 specified 

in the licence (the British Board of Film Classification is currently the only body which has been so designated) or 

by the licensing authority itself. Further details are given in Chapter 10. 

2.31 Theatres may present a range of diverse activities and entertainment including, for example, variety shows 

incorporating adult entertainment. It is appropriate in these cases for a licensing authority to consider restricting 

the admission of children in such circumstances. Entertainments may also be presented at theatres specifically for 

children. It will be appropriate to consider whether a condition should be attached to a premises licence or club 

premises certificate which requires the presence of a sufficient number of adult staff on the premises to ensure 

the wellbeing of the children during any emergency.  

… 

3. Licensable activities 

… 

8. Applications for premises licences 

… 

8.2 Section 13 of the 2003 Act defines the parties holding important roles in the context of applications, 

inspection, monitoring and reviews of premises licences. 

Page 415



Authorised persons 

8.3 The first group –“authorised persons”– are bodies empowered by the 2003 Act to carry out inspection and 

enforcement roles. The police and immigration officers are not included because they are separately empowered 

by the 2003 Act to carry out their duties. 

8.4 For all premises, the authorised persons include: 

• officers of the licensing authority; 

• fire inspectors; 

• inspectors with responsibility in the licensing authority’s area for the enforcement of the Health and Safety at 

Work etc Act 1974; 

• officers of the local authority exercising environmental health functions 8.5 Local authority officers will most 

commonly have responsibility for the enforcement of health and safety legislation, but the Health and Safety 

Executive is responsible for certain premises. In relation to vessels, authorised persons also include an inspector 

or a surveyor of ships appointed under section 256 of the Merchant Shipping Act 1995. These would normally be 

officers acting on behalf of the Maritime and Coastguard Agency. The Secretary of State may prescribe other 

authorised persons by means of regulations, but has not currently prescribed any additional bodies. If any are 

prescribed, details will be made available on the GOV.UK website. 

8.6 Where an immigration officer has reason to believe that any premises are being used for a licensable activity, 

the officer may enter the premises with a view to seeing whether an offence under any of the Immigration Acts is 

being committed in connection with the licensable activity. 

Responsible authorities 

8.7 The second group –“responsible authorities”– are public bodies that must be fully notified of applications and 

that are entitled to make representations to the licensing authority in relation to the application for the grant, 

variation or review of a premises licence. These representations must still be considered ‘relevant’ by the 

licensing authority and relate to one or more of the licensing objectives. For all premises, responsible authorities 

include: 

• the relevant licensing authority and any other licensing authority in whose area part of the premises is situated; 

• the chief officer of police; 

• the local fire and rescue authority; 

• the relevant enforcing authority under the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974; 

• the local authority with responsibility for environmental health; 

• the local planning authority; 

• a body that represents those who are responsible for, or interested in, matters relating to the protection of 

children from harm; 

• each local authority’s Director of Public Health (DPH) in England and Local Health Boards (in Wales); 

• the local weights and measures authority (trading standards); and 

• Home Office Immigration Enforcement (on behalf of the Secretary of State). 

Page 416



8.8 The licensing authority should indicate in its statement of licensing policy which body it recognises to be 

competent to advise it on the protection of children from harm. This may be the local authority social services 

department, the Local Safeguarding Children Board or another competent body. This is important as applications 

for premises licences have to be copied to the responsible authorities in order for them to make any 

representations they think are relevant. 

.. 

Other persons 

8.13 As well as responsible authorities, any other person can play a role in a number of licensing processes 

under the 2003 Act. This includes any individual, body or business entitled to make representations to licensing 

authorities in relation to applications for the grant, variation, minor variation or review of premises licences 

and club premises certificates, regardless of their geographic proximity to the premises. In addition, these 

persons may themselves seek a review of a premises licence. Any representations made by these persons must 

be ‘relevant’, in that the representation relates to one or more of the licensing objectives. It must also not be 

considered by the licensing authority to be frivolous or vexatious. In the case of applications for reviews, there 

is an additional requirement that the grounds for the review should not be considered by the licensing 

authority to be repetitious. Chapter 9 of this guidance (paragraphs 9.4 to 9.10) provides more detail on the 

definition of relevant, frivolous and vexatious representations. 

8.14 While any of these persons may act in their own right, they may also request that a  representative makes 

the representation to the licensing authority on their behalf. A representative may include a legal 

representative, a friend, a Member of Parliament, a Member of the Welsh Government, or a local ward or 

parish councillor who can all act in such a capacity. 

… 

Steps to promote the licensing objectives 

8.41 In completing an operating schedule, applicants are expected to have regard to the statement of licensing 

policy for their area. They must also be aware of the expectations of the licensing authority and the responsible 

authorities as to the steps that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives, and to 

demonstrate knowledge of their local area when describing the steps they propose to take to promote the 

licensing objectives. Licensing authorities and responsible authorities are expected to publish information 

about what is meant by the promotion of the licensing objectives and to ensure that applicants can readily 

access advice about these matters. However, applicants are also expected to undertake their own enquiries 

about the area in which the premises are situated to inform the content of the application. 

8.42 Applicants are, in particular, expected to obtain sufficient information to enable them to demonstrate, 

when setting out the steps they propose to take to promote the licensing objectives, that they understand: 

• the layout of the local area and physical environment including crime and disorder hotspots, proximity to 

residential premises and proximity to areas where children may congregate; 

• any risk posed to the local area by the applicants’ proposed licensable activities; and 

• any local initiatives (for example, local crime reduction initiatives or voluntary schemes including local taxi-

marshalling schemes, street pastors and other schemes) which may help to mitigate potential risks. 

8.43 Applicants are expected to include positive proposals in their application on how they will manage any 

potential risks. Where specific policies apply in the area (for example, a cumulative impact policy), applicants are 

Page 417



also expected to demonstrate an understanding of how the policy impacts on their application; any measures 

they will take to mitigate the impact; and why they consider the application should be an exception to the policy. 

8.44 It is expected that enquiries about the locality will assist applicants when determining the steps that are 

appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. For example, premises with close proximity to 

residential premises should consider what effect this will have on their smoking, noise management and dispersal 

policies to ensure the promotion of the public nuisance objective. Applicants must consider all factors which may 

be relevant to the promotion of the licensing objectives, and where there are no known concerns, acknowledge 

this in their application. 

8.45 The majority of information which applicants will require should be available in the licensing policy 

statement in the area. Other publicly available sources which may be of use to applicants include: 

• the Crime Mapping website; 

• Neighbourhood Statistics websites; 

• websites or publications by local responsible authorities; 

• websites or publications by local voluntary schemes and initiatives; and 

• on-line mapping tools. 

8.46 While applicants are not required to seek the views of responsible authorities before formally submitting 

their application, they may find them to be a useful source of expert advice on local issues that should be taken 

into consideration when making an application. Licensing authorities may wish to encourage co-operation 

between applicants, responsible authorities and, where relevant, local residents and businesses before 

applications are submitted in order to minimise the scope for disputes to arise. 

8.47 Applicants are expected to provide licensing authorities with sufficient information in this section to 

determine the extent to which their proposed steps are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives in the 

local area. Applications must not be based on providing a set of standard conditions to promote the licensing 

objectives and applicants are expected to make it clear why the steps they are proposing are appropriate for the 

premises. 

8.48 All parties are expected to work together in partnership to ensure that the licensing objectives are promoted 

collectively. Where there are no disputes, the steps that applicants propose to take to promote the licensing 

objectives, as set out in the operating schedule, will very often translate directly into conditions that will be 

attached to premises licences with the minimum of fuss. 

8.49 For some premises, it is possible that no measures will be appropriate to promote one or more of the 

licensing objectives, for example, because they are adequately covered by other existing legislation. It is 

however important that all operating schedules should be precise and clear about the measures that are 

proposed to promote each of the licensing objectives. 

9. Determining applications 

General 

9.1 When a licensing authority receives an application for a new premises licence or an application to vary an 

existing premises licence, it must determine whether the application has been made in accordance with section 

17 of the 2003 Act, and in accordance with regulations made under sections 17(3) to (6), 34, 42, 54 and 55 of the 

2003 Act. It must similarly determine applications for the grant of club premises certificates made in accordance 

with section 71 of the 2003 Act, and in accordance with regulations made under sections 71(4) to (7), 84, 91 and 

Page 418



92 of the 2003 Act. This means that the licensing authority must consider among other things whether the 

application has been properly advertised in accordance with those regulations.  

Where no representations are made 

9.2 A hearing is not required where an application has been properly made and no responsible authority or other 

person has made a relevant representation or where representations are made and subsequently withdrawn. In 

these cases, the licensing authority must grant the application in the terms sought, subject only to conditions 

which are consistent with the operating schedule and relevant mandatory conditions under the 2003 Act. This 

should be undertaken as a simple administrative process by the licensing authority’s officials who should replicate 

the proposals contained in the operating schedule to promote the licensing objectives in the form of clear and 

enforceable licence conditions. Licensing authorities should not hold hearings for uncontested applications, for 

example in situations where representations have been made and conditions have subsequently been agreed. 

Where representations are made  

9.3 Where a representation concerning the licensing objectives is made by a responsible authority about a 

proposed operating schedule and it is relevant (see paragraphs 9.4 to 9.10 below), the licensing authority’s 

discretion will be engaged. It will also be engaged if another person makes relevant representations to the 

licensing authority, which are also not frivolous or vexatious (see paragraphs 9.4 to 9.10 below). Relevant 

representations can be made in opposition to, or in support of, an application and can be made by any individual, 

body or business that has grounds to do so.  

Relevant, vexatious and frivolous representations 

9.4 A representation is “relevant” if it relates to the likely effect of the grant of the licence on the promotion of at 

least one of the licensing objectives. For example, a representation from a local businessperson about the 

commercial damage caused by competition from new licensed premises would not be relevant. On the other 

hand, a representation by a businessperson that nuisance caused by new premises would deter customers from 

entering the local area, and the steps proposed by the applicant to prevent that nuisance were inadequate, would 

be relevant. In other words, representations should relate to the impact of licensable activities carried on from 

premises on the objectives. For representations in relation to variations to be relevant, they should be confined to 

the subject matter of the variation. There is no requirement for a responsible authority or other person to 

produce a recorded history of problems at premises to support their representations, and in fact this would not 

be possible for new premises. 

9.5 It is for the licensing authority to determine whether a representation (other than a representation from 

responsible authority) is frivolous or vexatious on the basis of what might ordinarily be considered to be vexatious 

or frivolous. A representation may be considered to be vexatious if it appears to be intended to cause aggravation 

or annoyance, whether to a competitor or other person, without reasonable cause or justification. Vexatious 

circumstances may arise because of disputes between rival businesses and local knowledge will therefore be 

invaluable in considering such matters. Licensing authorities can consider the main effect of the representation, 

and whether any inconvenience or expense caused by it could reasonably be considered to be proportionate. 

9.6 Frivolous representations would be essentially categorised by a lack of seriousness. Frivolous representations 

would concern issues which, at most, are minor and in relation to which no remedial steps would be warranted or 

proportionate.  

9.7 Any person who is aggrieved by a rejection of their representations on either of these grounds may lodge a 

complaint through the local authority’s corporate complaints procedure. A person may also challenge the 

authority’s decision by way of judicial review. 

Page 419



9.8 Licensing authorities should not take decisions about whether representations are frivolous, vexatious or 

relevant to the licensing objectives on the basis of any political judgement. This may be difficult for councillors 

who receive complaints from residents within their own wards. If consideration is not to be delegated, contrary to 

the recommendation in this Guidance, an assessment should be prepared by officials for consideration by the 

sub- committee before any decision is taken that necessitates a hearing. Any councillor who considers that their 

own interests are such that they are unable to consider the matter independently should disqualify themselves. 

9.9 It is recommended that, in borderline cases, the benefit of the doubt about any aspect of a representation 

should be given to the person making that representation. The subsequent hearing would then provide an 

opportunity for the person or body making the representation to amplify and clarify it. 

9.10 Licensing authorities should consider providing advice on their websites about how any person can make 

representations to them.  

The role of responsible authorities 

9.11 Responsible authorities under the 2003 Act are automatically notified of all new applications. While all 

responsible authorities may make representations regarding applications for licences and club premises 

certificates and full variation applications, it is the responsibility of each responsible authority to determine when 

they have appropriate grounds to do so. 

9.12 Each responsible authority will be an expert in their respective field, and in some cases it is likely that a 

particular responsible authority will be the licensing authority’s main source of advice in relation to a particular 

licensing objective. For example, the police have a key role in managing the night-time economy and should 

have good working relationships with those operating in their local area. The police should usually therefore be 

the licensing authority’s main source of advice on matters relating to the promotion of the crime and disorder 

licensing objective. However, any responsible authority under the 2003 Act may make representations with 

regard to any of the licensing objectives if they have evidence to support such representations. Licensing 

authorities must therefore consider all relevant representations from responsible authorities carefully, even 

where the reason for a particular responsible authority’s interest or expertise in the promotion of a particular 

objective may not be immediately apparent. However, it remains incumbent on all responsible authorities to 

ensure that their representations can withstand the scrutiny to which they would be subject at a hearing. 

Licensing authorities acting as responsible authorities 

9.13 Licensing authorities are included in the list of responsible authorities. A similar framework exists in the 

Gambling Act 2005. The 2003 Act does not require responsible authorities to make representations about 

applications for the grant of premises licences or to take any other steps in respect of different licensing 

processes. It is, therefore, for the licensing authority to determine when it considers it appropriate to act in its 

capacity as a responsible authority; the licensing authority should make this decision in accordance with its duties 

under section 4 of the 2003 Act. 

9.14 Licensing authorities are not expected to act as responsible authorities on behalf of other parties (for 

example, local residents, local councillors or community groups) although there are occasions where the authority 

may decide to do so. Such parties can make relevant representations to the licensing authority in their own right, 

and it is reasonable for the licensing authority to expect them to make representations themselves where they 

are reasonably able to do so. However, if these parties have failed to take action and the licensing authority is 

aware of relevant grounds to make a representation, it may choose to act in its capacity as responsible authority. 

9.15 It is also reasonable for licensing authorities to expect that other responsible authorities should intervene 

where the basis for the intervention falls within the remit of that other responsible authority. For example, the 

police should make representations where the representations are based on concerns about crime and disorder. 

Page 420



Likewise, it is reasonable to expect the local authority exercising environmental health functions to make 

representations where there are concerns about noise nuisance. Each responsible authority has equal standing 

under the 2003 Act and may act independently without waiting for representations from any other responsible 

authority. 

9.16 The 2003 Act enables licensing authorities to act as responsible authorities as a means of early intervention; 

they may do so where they consider it appropriate without having to wait for representations from other 

responsible authorities. For example, the licensing authority may (in a case where it has applied a cumulative 

impact policy) consider that granting a new licence application will add to the cumulative impact of licensed 

premises in its area and therefore decide to make representations to that effect, without waiting for any other 

person to do so.  

9.17 In cases where a licensing authority is also acting as responsible authority in relation to the same process, it 

is important to achieve a separation of responsibilities within the authority to ensure procedural fairness and 

eliminate conflicts of interest. In such cases licensing determinations will be made by the licensing committee or 

sub committee comprising elected members of the authority (although they are advised by a licensing officer). 

Therefore, a separation is achieved by allocating distinct functions (i.e. those of licensing authority and 

responsible authority) to different officials within the authority.  

9.18 In these cases, licensing authorities should allocate the different responsibilities to different licensing officers 

or other officers within the local authority to ensure a proper separation of responsibilities. The officer advising 

the licensing committee (i.e. the authority acting in its capacity as the licensing authority) must be a different 

person from the officer who is acting for the responsible authority. The officer acting for the responsible authority 

should not be involved in the licensing decision process and should not discuss the merits of the case with those 

involved in making the determination by the licensing authority. For example, discussion should not take place 

between the officer acting as responsible authority and the officer handling the licence application regarding the 

merits of the case. Communication between these officers in relation to the case should remain professional and 

consistent with communication with other responsible authorities. Representations, subject to limited 

exceptions, must be made in writing. It is for the licensing authority to determine how the separate roles are 

divided to ensure an appropriate separation of responsibilities. This approach may not be appropriate for all 

licensing authorities and many authorities may already have processes in place to effectively achieve the same 

outcome. 

9.19 Smaller licensing authorities, where such a separation of responsibilities is more difficult, may wish to involve 

officials from outside the licensing department to ensure a separation of responsibilities. However, these officials 

should still be officials employed by the authority. 

… 

Hearings 

9.31 The Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005 governing hearings may be found on the 

www.legislation.gov.uk website. If the licensing authority decides that representations are relevant, it must hold a 

hearing to consider them. The need for a hearing can only be avoided with the agreement of the licensing 

authority, where the applicant and all of the persons who made relevant representations have given notice to the 

authority that they consider a hearing to be unnecessary. Where this is the case and the authority agrees that a 

hearing is unnecessary, it must forthwith give notice to the parties that the hearing has been dispensed with. 

Notwithstanding those regulatory provisions, in cases where the licensing authority believes that a hearing is still 

necessary, it is recommended that the authority should, as soon as possible, provide the parties with reasons in 

writing for the need to hold the hearing. In cases where only ‘positive’ representations are received, without 

qualifications, the licensing authority should consider whether a hearing is required. To this end, it may wish to 

Page 421



notify the persons who made representations and give them the opportunity to withdraw those representations. 

This would need to be done in sufficient time before the hearing to ensure that parties were not put to 

unnecessary inconvenience. 

9.32 Responsible authorities should try to conclude any discussions with the applicant in good time before the 

hearing. The 2005 Hearings Regulations permit licensing authorities to extend a time limit provided for by those 

Regulations for a specified period where it considers this to be necessary in the public interest. For example, if the 

application is amended at the last moment, the licensing committee should consider giving other persons time to 

address the revised application before the hearing commences. Where the authority has extended a time limit it 

must forthwith give a notice to the parties involved stating the period of the extension and the reasons for it. 

9.33 The 2005 Hearings Regulations require that representations must be withdrawn 24 hours before the first day 

of any hearing. If they are withdrawn after this time, the hearing must proceed and the representations may be 

withdrawn orally at that hearing. However, where discussions between an applicant and those making 

representations are taking place and it is likely that all parties are on the point of reaching agreement, the 

licensing authority may wish to use the power given within the hearings regulations to extend time limits, if it 

considers this to be in the public interest. 

9.34 Applicants should be encouraged to contact responsible authorities and others, such as local residents, who 

may be affected by the application before formulating their applications so that the mediation process may begin 

before the statutory time limits come into effect after submission of an application. The hearing process must 

meet the requirements of regulations made under the 2003 Act. Where matters arise which are not covered by 

the regulations, licensing authorities may make arrangements as they see fit as long as they are lawful. 

9.35 There is no requirement in the 2003 Act for responsible authorities that have made representations to 

attend, but it is generally good practice and assists committees in reaching more informed decisions. Where 

several responsible authorities within a local authority have made representations on an application, a single local 

authority officer may represent them at the hearing if the responsible authorities and the licensing authority 

agree. This local authority officer representing other responsible authorities may be a licensing officer, but only if 

this licensing officer is acting as a responsible authority on behalf of the licensing authority and has had no role in 

the licensing determination process. This is to ensure that the responsible authorities are represented by an 

independent officer separate from the licensing determination process.  

9.36 As noted in paragraphs 9.13 to 9.19 above, where the licensing officer is acting as a responsible authority the 

relevant steps should be followed to ensure that this individual has no role in the decision making process 

regarding the licensing determination. 

9.37 As a matter of practice, licensing authorities should seek to focus the hearing on the steps considered 

appropriate to promote the particular licensing objective or objectives that have given rise to the specific 

representation and avoid straying into undisputed areas. A responsible authority or other person may choose 

to rely on their written representation. They may not add further representations to those disclosed to the 

applicant prior to the hearing, but they may expand on their existing representation and should be allowed 

sufficient time to do so, within reasonable and practicable limits.  

9.38 In determining the application with a view to promoting the licensing objectives in the overall interests of 

the local community, the licensing authority must give appropriate weight to: 

• the steps that are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives; 

• the representations (including supporting information) presented by all the parties; 

• this Guidance; 

Page 422



• its own statement of licensing policy. 

9.39 The licensing authority should give its decision within five working days of the conclusion of the hearing (or 

immediately in certain specified cases) and provide reasons to support it. This will be important if there is an 

appeal by any of the parties. Notification of a decision must be accompanied by information on the right of the 

party to appeal. After considering all the relevant issues, the licensing authority may grant the application subject 

to such conditions that are consistent with the operating schedule. Any conditions imposed must be appropriate 

for the promotion of the licensing objectives; there is no power for the licensing authority to attach a condition 

that is merely aspirational. For example, conditions may not be attached which relate solely to the health of 

customers rather than their direct physical safety. Any conditions added to the licence must be those imposed at 

the hearing or those agreed when a hearing has not been necessary. 

9.40 Alternatively, the licensing authority may refuse the application on the grounds that this is appropriate for 

the promotion of the licensing objectives. It may also refuse to specify a designated premises supervisor and/or 

only allow certain requested licensable activities. In the interests of transparency, the licensing authority should 

publish hearings procedures in full on its website to ensure that those involved have the most current 

information. 

9.41 In the context of variations or minor variations, which may involve structural alteration to or change of use of 

a building, the decision of the licensing authority will not exempt an applicant from the need to apply for building 

control approval, planning permission or both of these where appropriate. 

Determining actions that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives 

9.42 Licensing authorities are best placed to determine what actions are appropriate for the promotion of the 

licensing objectives in their areas. All licensing determinations should be considered on a case-by-case basis. 

They should take into account any representations or objections that have been received from responsible 

authorities or other persons, and representations made by the applicant or premises user as the case may be. 

9.43 The authority’s determination should be evidence-based, justified as being appropriate for the promotion 

of the licensing objectives and proportionate to what it is intended to achieve. 

9.44 Determination of whether an action or step is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives 

requires an assessment of what action or step would be suitable to achieve that end. While this does not 

therefore require a licensing authority to decide that no lesser step will achieve the aim, the authority should 

aim to consider the potential burden that the condition would impose on the premises licence holder (such as 

the financial burden due to restrictions on licensable activities) as well as the potential benefit in terms of the 

promotion of the licensing objectives. However, it is imperative that the authority ensures that the factors 

which form the basis of its determination are limited to consideration of the promotion of the objectives and 

nothing outside those parameters. As with the consideration of licence variations, the licensing authority 

should consider wider issues such as other conditions already in place to mitigate potential negative impact on 

the promotion of the licensing objectives and the track record of the business. Further advice on determining 

what is appropriate when imposing conditions on a licence or certificate is provided in Chapter 10. The 

licensing authority is expected to come to its determination based on an assessment of the evidence on both 

the risks and benefits either for or against making the determination. 

Considering cases where licensing and planning applications are made simultaneously 

9.45 Where businesses have indicated, when applying for a licence under the 2003 Act, that they have also 

applied for planning permission or that they intend to do so, licensing committees and officers should consider 

discussion with their planning counterparts prior to determination with the aim of agreeing mutually acceptable 

operating hours and scheme designs. 

Page 423



10. Conditions attached to premises licences and club premises certificates 

General 

10.1 This chapter provides further guidance in relation to conditions attached to premises licences and club 

premises certificates. General principles on licence conditions are set out in Chapter 1 (see paragraph 1.16). 

10.2 Conditions include any limitations or restrictions attached to a licence or certificate and essentially are the 

steps or actions that the holder of the premises licence or the club premises certificate will be required to take 

or refrain from taking in relation to the carrying on of licensable activities at the premises in question. Failure 

to comply with any condition attached to a licence or certificate is a criminal offence, which on conviction is 

punishable by an unlimited fine or up to six months’ imprisonment. The courts have made clear that it is 

particularly important that conditions which are imprecise or difficult for a licence holder to observe should be 

avoided. 

10.3 There are three types of condition that may be attached to a licence or certificate: proposed, imposed and 

mandatory. Each of these categories is described in more detail below. 

Proposed conditions 

10.4 The conditions that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives should emerge initially 

from the risk assessment carried out by a prospective licence or certificate holder, which they should carry out 

before making their application for a premises licence or club premises certificate. This would be translated into 

the steps recorded in the operating schedule or club operating schedule, which must also set out the proposed 

hours during which licensable activities will be conducted and any other hours during which the premises will be 

open to the public. 

10.5 It is not acceptable for licensing authorities to simply replicate the wording from an applicant’s operating 

schedule. A condition should be interpreted in accordance with the applicant’s intention. 

Consistency with steps described in operating schedule 

10.6 The 2003 Act provides that where an operating schedule or club operating schedule has been submitted with 

an application and there have been no relevant representations made by responsible authorities or any other 

person, the licence or certificate must be granted subject only to such conditions as are consistent with the 

schedule accompanying the application and any mandatory conditions required under the 2003 Act. 

10.7 Consistency means that the effect of the condition should be substantially the same as that intended by the 

terms of the operating schedule. If conditions are broken, this may lead to a criminal prosecution or an 

application for a review and it is extremely important therefore that they should be expressed on the licence or 

certificate in unequivocal and unambiguous terms. The duty imposed by conditions on the licence holder or club 

must be clear to the licence holder, club, enforcement officers and the courts. 

Imposed conditions 

10.8 The licensing authority may not impose any conditions unless its discretion has been exercised following 

receipt of relevant representations and it is satisfied as a result of a hearing (unless all parties agree a hearing is 

not necessary) that it is appropriate to impose conditions to promote one or more of the four licensing objectives. 

In order to promote the crime prevention licensing objective conditions may be included that are aimed at 

preventing illegal working in licensed premises. This provision also applies to minor variations. 

10.9 It is possible that in some cases no additional conditions will be appropriate to promote the licensing 

objectives. 

Page 424



Proportionality 

10.10 The 2003 Act requires that licensing conditions should be tailored to the size, type, location and 

characteristics and activities taking place at the premises concerned. Conditions should be determined on a 

case-by-case basis and standardised conditions which ignore these individual aspects should be avoided. For 

example, conditions should not be used to implement a general policy in a given area such as the use of CCTV, 

polycarbonate drinking vessels or identity scanners where they would not be appropriate to the specific 

premises. Conditions that are considered appropriate for the prevention of illegal working in premises licensed 

to sell alcohol or late night refreshment might include requiring a premises licence holder to undertake right to 

work checks on all staff employed at the licensed premises or requiring that a copy of any document checked as 

part of a right to work check is retained at the licensed premises. Licensing authorities and other responsible 

authorities should be alive to the indirect costs that can arise because of conditions. These could be a deterrent 

to holding events that are valuable to the community or for the funding of good and important causes. 

Licensing authorities should therefore ensure that any conditions they impose are only those which are 

appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

Hours of trading 

10.13 The Government acknowledges that different licensing strategies may be appropriate for the promotion of 

the licensing objectives in different areas. The 2003 Act gives the licensing authority power to make decisions 

about the hours during which premises can conduct licensable activities as part of the implementation of its 

licensing policy statement. Licensing authorities are best placed to make decisions about appropriate opening 

hours in their areas based on their local knowledge and in consultation with responsible authorities. However, 

licensing authorities must always consider each application and must not impose predetermined licensed opening 

hours, without giving individual consideration to the merits of each application. 

10.14 Where there are objections to an application to extend the hours during which licensable  activities are to 

be carried on and the licensing authority determines that this would undermine the licensing objectives, it may 

reject the application or grant it with appropriate conditions and/or different hours from those requested. 

Mandatory conditions in relation to the supply of alcohol 

10.25 The 2003 Act provides for the following mandatory conditions to be included in every licence and/or club 

premises certificate in the circumstances specified. 

Arrangements for the mandatory licence conditions 

10.36 The mandatory conditions made under sections 19A and 73B of the 2003 Act (the conditions governing 

irresponsible promotions, dispensing alcohol directly into the mouth, provision of free tap water, age verification, 

small measures and the prohibition on sales of alcohol below the permitted price) do not have to be physically 

included in the licence or certificate but nonetheless will apply to every licence and certificate authorising the sale 

and supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises. The mandatory conditions set out in section 19 of the 

2003 Act (the requirement for a DPS and for all sales to be made or authorised by a personal licence holder) do, 

however, have to be physically included in the licence. The mandatory licence conditions do not apply to activities 

(including the supply of alcohol) authorised by a temporary event notice. 

Irresponsible promotions 

10.39 Under this condition, the “responsible person” (defined in the 2003 Act as the holder of a premises licence, 

designated premises supervisor, a person aged 18 or over who is authorised to allow the sale or supply of alcohol 

by an under 18 or a member or officer of a club present on the club premises who can oversee the supply of 

alcohol) should be able to demonstrate that they have ensured that staff do not carry out, arrange or participate 

Page 425



in any irresponsible promotions. An irresponsible promotion is one that fits one of the descriptions below (or is 

substantially similar), is carried on for the purpose of encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption 

on the premises. The aim of the condition is to prohibit or restrict promotions which encourage people to drink 

more than they might ordinarily do and in a manner which undermines the licensing objectives. 

Free potable water 

10.45 The responsible person (see paragraph 10.39) must ensure that free potable water is provided on request 

to customers where it is reasonably available on the premises. What is meant by reasonably available is a 

question of fact; for example, it would not be reasonable to expect free tap water to be available in premises for 

which the water supply had temporarily been lost because of a broken mains water supply. However, it may be 

reasonable to expect bottled water to be provided in such circumstances.  

Age verification 

10.46 The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an age verification policy 

applies to the premises in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol. This must as a minimum require individuals 

who appear to the responsible person (see paragraph 10.39) to be under the age of 18 years of age to produce on 

request, before being served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth, and either a 

holographic mark or ultraviolet feature. The Home Office encourages licensed premises to accept cards bearing 

the Proof of Age Standards Scheme (PASS) hologram as their preferred proof of age, while acknowledging that 

many other forms of identification meet the requirements of the mandatory condition. 

10.47 The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that staff (in particular, staff 

who are involved in the supply of alcohol) are made aware of the existence and content of the age verification 

policy which applies by the premises.  

10.48 The designated premises supervisor (where there is one) must ensure that the supply of alcohol at the 

premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification policy. This means that the DPS has personal 

responsibility for ensuring that staff are not only aware of, but are also applying, the age verification policy. 

10.49 It is acceptable, and indeed encouraged, for premises to have an age verification policy which requires 

individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under an age greater than 18 to produce such 

identification on request. For example, if premises have a policy that requires any individual that appears to be 

under the age of 21 to produce identification that meets the criteria listed above, this is perfectly acceptable 

under the mandatory code. 

10.50 Licence holders should consider carefully what steps they are required to take to comply with the age 

verification requirements under the 2003 Act in relation to sales of alcohol made remotely. These include sales 

made online, by telephone and mail order sales, and alcohol delivery services. Each of these sales must comply 

with the requirements of the 2003 Act. The mandatory condition requires that age verification takes place before 

a person is served alcohol. Where alcohol is sold remotely (for example, online) or through a telephone 

transaction, the sale is made at this point but the alcohol is not actually served until it is delivered to the 

customer. Age verification measures (for example, online age verification) should be used to ensure that alcohol 

is not sold to any person under the age of 18. However, licence holders should also consider carefully what steps 

are appropriate to ensure that age verification takes place before the alcohol  is served (i.e. physically delivered) 

to the customer to be satisfied that the customer is aged 18 or over. It is, therefore, the responsibility of the 

person serving or delivering the alcohol to ensure that age verification has taken place and that photo ID has been 

checked if the person appears to be less than 18 years of age. 

 

Page 426



11. Reviews 

The review process 

11.1 The proceedings set out in the 2003 Act for reviewing premises licences and club premises certificates 

represent a key protection for the community where problems associated with the licensing objectives occur 

after the grant or variation of a premises licence or club premises certificate. 

11.2 At any stage, following the grant of a premises licence or club premises certificate, a responsible authority, 

or any other person, may ask the licensing authority to review the licence or certificate because of a matter 

arising at the premises in connection with any of the four licensing objectives. 

11.3 An application for review may be made electronically, provided that the licensing authority agrees and the 

applicant submits a subsequent hard copy of the application, if the licensing authority requires one. The licensing 

authority may also agree in advance that the application need not be given in hard copy. However, these 

applications are outside the formal electronic application process and may not be submitted via GOV.UK or the 

licensing authority’s electronic facility. 

11.4 In addition, the licensing authority must review a licence if the premises to which it relates was made the 

subject of a closure order by the police based on nuisance or disorder and the magistrates’ court has sent the 

authority the relevant notice of its determination, or if the police have made an application for summary review 

on the basis that premises are associated with serious crime and/or disorder. 

11.5 Any responsible authority under the 2003 Act may apply for a review of a premises licence or club premises 

certificate. Therefore, the relevant licensing authority may apply for a review if it is concerned about licensed 

activities at premises and wants to intervene early without waiting for representations from other persons. 

However, it is not expected that licensing authorities should normally act as responsible authorities in applying for 

reviews on behalf of other persons, such as local residents or community groups. These individuals or groups are 

entitled to apply for a review for a licence or certificate in their own right if they have grounds to do so. It is also 

reasonable for licensing authorities to expect other responsible authorities to intervene where the basis for the 

intervention falls within the remit of that other authority. For example, the police should take appropriate steps 

where the basis for the review is concern about crime and disorder or the sexual exploitation of children. 

Likewise, where there are concerns about noise nuisance, it is reasonable to expect the local authority exercising 

environmental health functions for the area in which the premises are situated to make the application for 

review.  

11.6 Where the relevant licensing authority does act as a responsible authority and applies for a review, it is 

important that a separation of responsibilities is still achieved in this process to ensure procedural fairness and 

eliminate conflicts of interest. As outlined previously in Chapter 9 of this Guidance, the distinct functions of acting 

as licensing authority and responsible authority should be exercised by different officials to ensure a separation of 

responsibilities. Further information on how licensing authorities should  achieve this separation of 

responsibilities can be found in Chapter 9, paragraphs 9.13 to9.19 of this Guidance. 

11.7 In every case, any application for a review must relate to particular premises in respect of which there is a 

premises licence or club premises certificate and must be relevant to the promotion of one or more of the 

licensing objectives. Following the grant or variation of a licence or certificate, a complaint regarding a general 

issue in the local area relating to the licensing objectives, such as a general (crime and disorder) situation in a 

town centre, should generally not be regarded as a relevant representation unless it can be positively tied or 

linked by a causal connection to particular premises, which would allow for a proper review of the licence or 

certificate. For instance, a geographic cluster of complaints, including along transport routes related to an 

individual public house and its closing time, could give grounds for a review of an existing licence as well as direct 

Page 427



incidents of crime and disorder around a particular public house. 

11.8 Where a licensing authority receives a geographic cluster of complaints, the authority may consider whether 

these issues are the result of the cumulative impact of licensed premises within the area concerned. In such 

circumstances, the authority may also consider whether it would be appropriate to include a special policy 

relating to cumulative impact within its licensing policy statement. Further guidance on cumulative impact 

policies can be found in Chapter 14 of this Guidance. 

11.9 Representations must be made in writing and may be amplified at the subsequent hearing or may stand in 

their own right. Additional representations which do not amount to an amplification of the original 

representation may not be made at the hearing. Representations may be made electronically, provided the 

licensing authority agrees and the applicant submits a subsequent hard copy, unless the licensing authority 

waives this requirement. 

11.10 Where authorised persons and responsible authorities have concerns about problems identified at 

premises, it is good practice for them to give licence holders early warning of their concerns and the need for 

improvement, and where possible they should advise the licence or certificate holder of the steps they need to 

take to address those concerns. A failure by the holder to respond to such warnings is expected to lead to a 

decision to apply for a review. Co-operation at a local level in promoting the licensing objectives should be 

encouraged and reviews should not be used to undermine this cooperation.  

11.11 If the application for a review has been made by a person other than a responsible authority (for example, a 

local resident, residents’ association, local business or trade association), before taking action the licensing 

authority must first consider whether the complaint being made is relevant, frivolous, vexatious or repetitious. 

Further guidance on determining whether a representation is frivolous or vexatious can be found in Chapter 9 of 

this Guidance (paragraphs 9.4 to 9.10). 

Repetitious grounds of review 

11.12 A repetitious ground is one that is identical or substantially similar to: 

• a ground for review specified in an earlier application for review made in relation to the same premises licence 

or certificate which has already been determined; or  

• representations considered by the licensing authority when the premises licence or certificate was granted; or 

• representations which would have been made when the application for the premises licence was first made and 

which were excluded then by reason of the prior issue of a provisional statement; and, in addition to the above 

grounds, a reasonable interval has not elapsed since that earlier review or grant. 

11.13 Licensing authorities are expected to be aware of the need to prevent attempts to review licences merely 

as a further means of challenging the grant of the licence following the failure of representations to persuade 

the licensing authority on an earlier occasion. It is for licensing authorities themselves to judge what should be 

regarded as a reasonable interval in these circumstances. However, it is recommended that more than one 

review originating from a person other than a responsible authority in relation to a particular premises should 

not be permitted within a 12 month period on similar grounds save in compelling circumstances or where it 

arises following a closure order. 

11.14 The exclusion of a complaint on the grounds that it is repetitious does not apply to responsible authorities 

which may make more than one application for a review of a licence or certificate within a 12 month period. 

11.15 When a licensing authority receives an application for a review from a responsible authority or any other 

person, or in accordance with the closure procedures described in Part 8 of the 2003 Act (for example, closure 

Page 428



orders), it must arrange a hearing. The arrangements for the hearing must follow the provisions set out in 

regulations. These regulations are published on the Government’s legislation website (www.legislation.gov.uk). It 

is particularly important that the premises licence holder is made fully aware of any representations made in 

respect of the premises, any evidence supporting the representations and that the holder or the holder’s legal 

representative has therefore been able to prepare a response. 

Powers of a licensing authority on the determination of a review 

11.16 The 2003 Act provides a range of powers for the licensing authority which it may exercise on determining a 

review where it considers them appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

11.17 The licensing authority may decide that the review does not require it to take any further steps appropriate 

to promoting the licensing objectives. In addition, there is nothing to prevent a licensing authority issuing an 

informal warning to the licence holder and/or to recommend improvement within a particular period of time. It is 

expected that licensing authorities will regard such informal warnings as an important mechanism for ensuring 

that the licensing objectives are effectively promoted and that warnings should be issued in writing to the licence 

holder. 

11.18 However, where responsible authorities such as the police or environmental health officers have already 

issued warnings requiring improvement – either orally or in writing – that have failed as part of their own stepped 

approach to address concerns, licensing authorities should not merely repeat that approach and should take this 

into account when considering what further action is appropriate. Similarly, licensing authorities may take into 

account any civil immigration penalties which a licence holder has been required to pay for employing an illegal 

worker.  

11.19 Where the licensing authority considers that action under its statutory powers is appropriate, it may take 

any of the following steps: 

• modify the conditions of the premises licence (which includes adding new conditions or any alteration or 

omission of an existing condition), for example, by reducing the hours of opening or by requiring door 

supervisors at particular times; 

• exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence, for example, to exclude the performance of live 

music or playing of recorded music (where it is not within the incidental live and recorded music exemption)10; 

• remove the designated premises supervisor, for example, because they consider that the problems are the 

result of poor management;  

• suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months; 

• revoke the licence. 

11.20 In deciding which of these powers to invoke, it is expected that licensing authorities should so far as 

possible seek to establish the cause or causes of the concerns that the representations identify. The remedial 

action taken should generally be directed at these causes and should always be no more than an appropriate and 

proportionate response to address the causes of concern that instigated the review. 

11.21 For example, licensing authorities should be alive to the possibility that the removal and replacement of the 

designated premises supervisor may be sufficient to remedy a problem where the cause of the identified problem 

directly relates to poor management decisions made by that individual. 

11.22 Equally, it may emerge that poor management is a direct reflection of poor company practice or policy and 

the mere removal of the designated premises supervisor may be an inadequate response to the problems 

presented. Indeed, where subsequent review hearings are generated by representations, it should be rare merely 

Page 429



to remove a succession of designated premises supervisors as this would be a clear indication of deeper problems 

that impact upon the licensing objectives. 

11.23 Licensing authorities should also note that modifications of conditions and exclusions of licensable activities 

may be imposed either permanently or for a temporary period of up to three months. Temporary changes or 

suspension of the licence for up to three months could impact on the business holding the licence financially and 

would only be expected to be pursued as an appropriate means of promoting the licensing objectives or 

preventing illegal working. So, for instance, a licence could be suspended for a weekend as a means of deterring 

the holder from allowing the problems that gave rise to the review to happen again. However, it will always be 

important that any detrimental financial impact that may result from a licensing authority’s decision is 

appropriate and proportionate to the promotion of the licensing objectives and for the prevention of illegal 

working in licensed premises. But where premises are found to be trading irresponsibly the licensing authority 

should not hesitate, where appropriate to do so, to take tough action to tackle the problems at the premises and, 

where other measures are deemed insufficient, to revoke the licence. 

.. 

13. Appeals 

General 

13.3 An appeal has to be commenced by the appellant giving a notice of appeal to the designated officer for the 

magistrates’ court within a period of 21 days beginning with the day on which the appellant was notified by the 

licensing authority of the decision which is being appealed. 

13.4 The licensing authority will always be a respondent to the appeal, but in cases where a favourable decision 

has been made for an applicant, licence holder, club or premises user against the representations of a responsible 

authority or any other person, or the objections of the chief officer of police, the Home Office (Immigration 

Enforcement), or local authority exercising environmental health functions, the holder of the premises or 

personal licence or club premises certificate or the person who gave an interim authority notice or the premises 

user will also be a respondent to the appeal, and the person who made the relevant representation or gave the 

objection will be the appellants.  

13.5 Where an appeal has been made against a decision of the licensing authority, the licensing authority will in 

all cases be the respondent to the appeal and may call as a witness a responsible authority or any other person 

who made representations against the application, if it chooses to do so. For this reason, the licensing authority 

should consider keeping responsible authorities and others informed of developments in relation to appeals to 

allow them to consider their position. Provided the court considers it appropriate, the licensing authority may also 

call as witnesses any individual or body that they feel might assist their response to an appeal. 

13.6 The court, on hearing any appeal, may review the merits of the decision on the facts and consider points of 

law or address both. 

13.7 On determining an appeal, the court may: 

• dismiss the appeal; 

• substitute for the decision appealed against any other decision which could have been made by the licensing 

authority; or 

• remit the case to the licensing authority to dispose of it in accordance with the direction of the court and 

make such order as to costs as it thinks fit. 

All parties should be aware that the court may make an order for one party to pay another party’s costs. 

Page 430



Licensing policy statements and Section 182 guidance 

13.8 In hearing an appeal against any decision made by a licensing authority, the magistrates’ court will have 

regard to that licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy and this Guidance. However, the court would 

be entitled to depart from either the statement of licensing policy or this Guidance if it considered it was 

justified to do so because of the individual circumstances of any case. In other words, while the court will 

normally consider the matter as if it were “standing in the shoes” of the licensing authority, it would be entitled 

to find that the licensing authority should have departed from its own policy or the Guidance because the 

particular circumstances would have justified such a decision. 

13.9 In addition, the court is entitled to disregard any part of a licensing policy statement or this Guidance that it 

holds to be ultra vires the 2003 Act and therefore unlawful. The normal course for challenging a statement of 

licensing policy or this Guidance should be by way of judicial review, but where it is submitted to an appellate 

court that a statement of policy is itself ultra vires the 2003 Act and this has a direct bearing on the case before it, 

it would be inappropriate for the court, on accepting such a submission, to compound the original error by relying 

on that part of the statement of licensing policy affected.  

Giving reasons for decisions 

13.10 It is important that a licensing authority gives comprehensive reasons for its decisions in anticipation of 

any appeals. Failure to give adequate reasons could itself give rise to grounds for an appeal. It is particularly 

important that reasons should also address the extent to which the decision has been made with regard to the 

licensing authority’s statement of policy and this Guidance. Reasons should be promulgated to all the parties of 

any process which might give rise to an appeal under the terms of the 2003 Act. 

14. Statements of licensing policy 

General 

14.2 Section 5 of the 2003 Act requires a licensing authority to prepare and publish a statement of its licensing 

policy at least every five years. Such a policy must be published before the authority carries out any function in 

respect of individual applications and notices made under the terms of the 2003 Act. During the five-year period, 

the policy must be kept under review and the licensing authority may make any revisions to it as it considers 

appropriate, for instance in the light of feedback from the local community on whether the licensing objectives 

are being met. If the licensing authority determines and publishes its policy in this way, a new five-year period 

commences on the date it is published. Previously, licensing authorities were required to determine their 

licensing policies for each three-year period. Licensing policies published in respect of the three-year period that 

began on 7 January 2011 are to be treated as though they apply to a period of five years beginning at that date. 

…. 

Fundamental principles 

14.9 All statements of policy should begin by stating the four licensing objectives, which the licensing policy 

should promote. In determining its policy, a licensing authority must have regard to this Guidance and give 

appropriate weight to the views of consultees.  

14.10 While statements of policy may set out a general approach to making licensing decisions, they must not 

ignore or be inconsistent with provisions in the 2003 Act. For example, a statement of policy must not undermine 

the right of any person to apply under the terms of the 2003 Act for a variety of permissions and to have any such 

application considered on its individual merits. 

Page 431



14.11 Similarly, no statement of policy should override the right of any person to make representations on an 

application or to seek a review of a licence or certificate where provision has been made for them to do so in the 

2003 Act. 

14.12 Statements of policies should make clear that: 

• licensing is about regulating licensable activities on licensed premises, by qualifying clubs and at temporary 

events within the terms of the 2003 Act; and  

• conditions attached to various authorisations will be focused on matters which are within the control of 

individual licence holders and others with relevant authorisations, i.e. the premises and its vicinity. 

14.13 A statement of policy should also make clear that licensing law is not the primary mechanism for the 

general control of nuisance and anti-social behaviour by individuals once they are away from the licensed 

premises and, therefore, beyond the direct control of the individual, club or business holding the licence, 

certificate or authorisation concerned. Nonetheless, it is a key aspect of such control and licensing law will 

always be part of a holistic approach to the management of the evening and night-time economy in town and 

city centres. 

Licence conditions 

14.14 Statements of licensing policy should reflect the general principles regarding licence conditions set out in 

Chapter 1 of this guidance. 

14.15 Statements of licensing policy should include a firm commitment to avoid attaching conditions that 

duplicate other regulatory regimes as far as possible. Chapter 10 provides further detail on this issue. 

…. 

Entertainment provision 

14.18 Statements of licensing policy should set out the extent to which the licensing authority intends to facilitate 

a broad range of entertainment provision for enjoyment by a wide cross-section of the public. Statements of 

licensing policy should address what balance is to be struck between promoting the provision of entertainment 

and addressing concerns relevant to the licensing objectives. Licensing authorities should be conscious that 

licensing policy may inadvertently deter live music by imposing indirect costs of a disproportionate nature, for 

example a blanket policy that any pub providing live music entertainment must have door supervisors. 

The need for licensed premises 

14.19 There can be confusion about the difference between the “need” for premises and the “cumulative impact” 

of premises on the licensing objectives, for example, on crime and disorder. “Need” concerns the commercial 

demand for another pub or restaurant or hotel and is a matter for the planning authority and for the market. This 

is not a matter for a licensing authority in discharging its licensing functions or for its statement of licensing policy. 

The cumulative impact of a concentration of licensed premises 

What is cumulative impact? 

14.20 The concept of “Cumulative impact” has been described within this guidance and used by licensing 

authorities within their statements of licensing policy since the commencement of the 2003 Act. ‘Cumulative 

impact assessments’ were introduced in the 2003 Act by the Policing and Crime Act 2017, with effect from 6 April 

2018. Cumulative impact is the potential impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives of 

a number of licensed premises concentrated in one area. 

Page 432



14.21 In some areas where the number, type or density of licensed premises, such as those selling alcohol or 

providing late night refreshment, is high or exceptional, serious problems of nuisance and disorder may arise 

outside or some distance from those premises. Such problems generally occur as a result of large numbers of 

drinkers being concentrated in an area, for example when leaving premises at peak times or when queuing at fast 

food outlets or for public transport. 

14.22 Queuing in itself may lead to conflict, disorder and anti-social behaviour. Moreover, large concentrations of 

people may also attract criminal activities such as drug dealing, pick pocketing and street robbery. Local services 

such as public transport, public lavatory provision and street cleaning may not be able to meet the demand posed 

by such concentrations of drinkers leading to issues such as street fouling, littering, traffic and public nuisance 

caused by concentrations of people who cannot be effectively dispersed quickly. 

14.23 Variable licensing hours may facilitate a more gradual dispersal of customers from premises. However, in 

some cases, the impact on surrounding areas of the behaviour of the customers of all premises taken together 

will be greater than the impact of customers of individual premises. These conditions are more likely to arise in 

town and city centres, but may also arise in other urban centres and the suburbs, for example on smaller high 

streets with high concentrations of licensed premises. 

Cumulative impact assessments 

14.24 A cumulative impact assessment (CIA) may be published by a licensing authority to help it to limit the 

number or types of licence applications granted in areas where there is evidence to show that the number or 

density of licensed premises in the area is having a cumulative impact and leading to problems which are 

undermining the licensing objectives. CIAs relate to applications for new premises licences and club premises 

certificates and applications to vary existing premises licences and club premises certificates in a specified area. 

…. 

Licensing hours 

14.51 With regard to licensing hours, the Government acknowledges that different licensing approaches may be 

appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in different areas. The 2003 Act gives the licensing 

authority power to make decisions regarding licensed opening hours as part of the implementation of its licensing 

policy statement and licensing authorities are best placed to make such decisions based on their local knowledge 

and in consultation with other responsible authorities. However, licensing authorities must always consider each 

application and must not impose predetermined licensed opening hours, without giving individual consideration 

to the merits of each application. 

14.52 Statements of licensing policy should set out the licensing authority’s approach regarding licensed 

opening hours and the strategy it considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in its area. 

The statement of licensing policy should emphasise the consideration which will be given to the individual 

merits of an application. The Government recognises that licensed premises make an important contribution to 

our local communities, and has given councils a range of tools to effectively manage the different pressures 

that licensed premises can bring. In determining appropriate strategies around licensed opening hours, 

licensing authorities cannot seek to restrict the activities of licensed premises where it is not appropriate for 

the promotion of the licensing objectives to do so. 

Planning and building control 

14.64 The statement of licensing policy should indicate that planning permission, building control approval and 

licensing regimes will be properly separated to avoid duplication and inefficiency. The planning and licensing 

regimes involve consideration of different (albeit related) matters. Licensing committees are not bound by 

Page 433



decisions made by a planning committee, and vice versa. However, as set out in chapter 9, licensing committees 

and officers should consider discussions with their planning counterparts prior to determination with the aim of 

agreeing mutually acceptable operating hours and scheme designs. 

14.65 There are circumstances when, as a condition of planning permission, a terminal hour has been set for the 

use of premises for commercial purposes. Where these hours are different to the licensing hours, the applicant 

must observe the earlier closing time. Premises operating in breach of their planning permission would be liable 

to prosecution under planning law. Proper integration should be assured by licensing committees, where 

appropriate, providing regular reports to the planning committee. 

Administration, exercise and delegation of functions 

14.68 The 2003 Act provides that the functions of the licensing authority (including its determinations) are to be 

taken or carried out by its licensing committee (except those relating to the making of a statement of licensing 

policy or where another of its committees has the matter referred to it). The licensing committee may delegate 

these functions to sub-committees consisting of three members of the committee, or in appropriate cases to 

officials supporting the licensing authority. Where licensing functions are not automatically transferred to 

licensing committees, the functions must be carried out by the licensing authority as a whole and not by its 

executive. Statements of licensing policy should indicate how the licensing authority intends to approach its 

various functions. Many of the decisions and functions will be purely administrative in nature and statements of 

licensing policy should underline the principle of delegation in the interests of speed, efficiency and cost-

effectiveness. 

.. 

Page 434


	Agenda
	4 The St James' Club, Gibson House. Cheltenham
	Appendix 1 St James Club application
	Appendix 2 Gibson Hse plan
	Appendix 3a
	Appendix 3b
	Appendix 3c
	Appendix 3d
	Appendix 3e
	Appendix 3f
	Appendix 3g
	Appendix 3h
	Appendix 3i
	Appendix 3j
	Appendix 4 a
	Appendix 4 b
	Appendix 4 c
	Appendix 4 d
	Appendix 5 Stautory Guidance extracts


